The Role of Small Businesses and Cooperative Businesses in Community Economic Development:

A Comparison of Leading and Lagging Rural Communities

Prepared by:

Canadian Rural Revitalization Foundation David Bruce, Mount Allison University

Prepared for:

The Canadian Rural Partnership, Government of Canada



Government Gouvernement of Canada du Canada



2000

The Role of Small Businesses and Cooperative Businesses in Community Economic Development: A Comparison of Leading and Lagging Rural Communities

2000

Prepared by Canadian Rural Revitalization Foundation David Bruce, Mount Allison University

Acknowledgements

Peter Apedaile, Greg Halseth, Andre Joyal, and Bill Reimer provided helpful comments on an earlier version of this report. CRRF acknowledges the important contribution and participation of small business owners and managers, and cooperative business managers and board members in our ongoing research program. Any errors or omissions are the responsibility of the author alone.

Prepared for: The Canadian Rural Partnership, Government of Canada

This information is provided free of charge to the public. It may be reused provided that it is accurately reproduced and the source is credited. Persons using this information agree to save harmless Her Majesty in right of Canada and all her representatives against any claim resulting from its use.

Any policy views, whether explicitly stated, inferred or interpreted from the contents of this publication have been developed from the research by the Consultant, and should not be represented as reflecting the views of the Canadian Rural Partnership or those of member agencies or the Government of Canada.

© Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, 2003

To obtain additional copies, please contact:

Rural Research and Analysis Unit Rural Secretariat, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada 1525 Carling Avenue, 3rd floor, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0C5 Fax: (613) 759-7105 Email: rs@agr.gc.ca

ISBN 0-662-35124-X Catalogue no. A22-351/2003E-HTML Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada Publication Number 2185/E This publication is available on the Internet at: www.rural.gc.ca

Également offert en français sous le titre : **Rôle des petites entreprises et des coopératives dans** le développement économique communautaire : comparaison des collectivités les plus et les moins dynamiques, Agriculture et Agroalimentaire Canada No de publication 2185/F

The Role of Small Businesses and Cooperative Businesses in Community Economic Development: A Comparison of Leading and Lagging Rural Communities

Prepared for:

The Interdepartmental Working Group on Rural and Remote Canada

Prepared by:

Canadian Rural Revitalization Foundation (CRRF) David Bruce, Mount Allison University

Acknowledgements

Peter Apedaile, Greg Halseth, Andre Joyal, and Bill Reimer provided helpful comments on an earlier version of this report. CRRF acknowledges the important contribution and participation of small business owners and managers, and cooperative business managers and board members in our ongoing research program. Any errors or omissions are the responsibility of the author alone.

Table of Contents

Executive Summaryv
1.0 Introduction
1.1 Outline of Report
2.0 Methodology
3.0 Profile of Small Business Sector and Cooperative Sector Respondents
4.0 The Role of Small Businesses in Community Economic Development
4.1 Small Business Contributions to Rural Communities
4.2 Small Business and the Informality of Rural Community Life
4.3 Entrepreneurship Among Small Businesses in Rural Communities
4.4 Small Business Access to and Use of Technology
4.5 Issues Related to the Location of Small Businesses in Rural Communities23
4.6 Small Business Use of Networks and Information
5.0 The Role of Cooperatives in Community Economic Development
5.1 Cooperatives' Contributions to Rural Communities
5.2 Cooperatives and the Informality of Rural Community Life
5.3 Entrepreneurship Among Cooperatives in Rural Communities
5.4 Cooperatives Access to and Use of Technology
5.5 Issues Related to the Location of Cooperatives in Rural Communities
5.6 Cooperatives' Use of Networks and Information
6.0 Differences Between Small Business and Cooperative Sectors
7.0 Comparison of Leading and Lagging Status of Communities
7.1 For the Business Sector
7.2 For the Cooperative Sector
7.3 Comparing the Business and Cooperative Sectors in Leading and Lagging
Communities
8.0 Community Economic Development: Policy and Research Issues
9.0 Bibliography

List of Figures

Table 1 Location and Status of Communities	4
Table 2A Business Respondents by Position in Firm, Gender, and Community Type	6
Table 2B Cooperative Respondents by Gender and Community Type	6
Table 3A Ownership Structure, Type of Business, and Birthplace of Respondent	7
Table 3B Cooperative Business Type in Sample	
Table 3C Birthplace of Cooperative Managers and Board Members	8
Table 4 Cooperative Board Size and Membership	
Table 5A Year Business Opened	
Table 5B Year Cooperative Opened	10
Table 6A Distribution of Rural Business Markets, Mean Percent of Sales, 1995 and 1999	
Table 6B Distribution of Cooperative Business Markets, Mean Percent of Sales,	
1995 and 1999	11
Table 7A Businesses With Increase in Sales Volume and Employment in Past Three Years	11
Table 7B Cooperatives With Increase in Sales Volume and Employment in Past	
Three Years	12
Table 8A Financial Contributions to Community by Local Businesses	
Table 8B Non-Financial Contributions to Community by Local Businesses	14
Table 9 Businesses' Perceptions of Their Community Involvement	
Table 10 Businesses' Perceptions of Community Support for Businesses	
Table 11A Businesses' Perceptions of their Leadership in the Marketplace	
Table 11B Businesses' Perceptions of their Individual Entrepreneurial Spirit	
Table 12A Use of Personal Finances for Business Startup	18
Table 12B Use of Personal Finances and Business Profits for Business Operations	
Table 13A Types of Capital Investments in Last Three Years by Businesses	
Table 13B Purpose of Recent Capital Investments by Businesses	
Table 14 Businesses' Perception of Business Expansion Attitudes in their Community	21
Table 15 Rural Business Use of the Internet for Business Activities	22
Table 16 Relative Importance for Businesses of Adopting New Technologies	23
Table 17 Five Most Important Reasons for Business Location in a Rural Community	
Table 18 Regulatory Impacts Restrict Ability for Business Expansion	25
Table 19A Top Five Challenges When Starting The Business	26
Table 19B Top Five Challenges During First Year in Business	26
Table 19C Top Five Current Business Challenges	27
Table 20 Top Five Labour Force Issues for Rural Businesses	
Table 21 Perception of Businesses about Business Climate in Rural Communities	
Table 22 Five Most Important Factors Contributing to Individual Business Success	
Table 23A Types Of Networking Opportunities Employed By Businesses	
Table 23B Interest in Types Of Networking Opportunities Among Businesses	
Table 24 Rank Order of Most Important Sources of Information for Managing the Business .	
Table 25 Business Participation in Trade Shows	33
Table 26 Cooperative Participation in Community Organizations	
Table 27A Financial Contributions to Community by Cooperatives	

Table 27B Non-Financial Contributions to Community by Cooperatives	36
Table 28 Cooperatives' Perceptions of Business Involvement in Community	37
Table 29 Cooperatives' Perceptions of Community Support for Businesses	38
Table 30 Initiation of Cooperative Businesses	38
Table 31 Reasons for Participation in Cooperative Businesses	39
Table 32A Cooperatives' Perceptions of their Leadership in the Marketplace	40
Table 32B Cooperatives' Perceptions of their Entrepreneurial Spirit	41
Table 33A Types of Capital Investments in Last Three Years by Cooperatives	41
Table 33B Purpose of Recent Capital Investments by Cooperatives	42
Table 34 Cooperatives' Perceptions of Business Expansion Attitudes in their Community	43
Table 35 Cooperatives' Use of the Internet for Business Activities	
Table 36 Relative Importance for Cooperatives of Adopting New Technologies	45
Table 37 Regulatory Impacts on Ability for Cooperative Business Expansion	46
Table 38A Top Five Challenges When Starting the Cooperative	
Table 38B Top Five Challenges During First Year in Cooperative Business	48
Table 38C Top Five Current Cooperative Business Challenges	48
Table 39 Top Five Labour Force Issues for Cooperative Businesses	49
Table 40 Training and Development in Cooperatives	50
Table 41 Perception of Cooperatives about Business Climate in Rural Communities	51
Table 42 Five Most Important Factors Contributing to Cooperative Success	52
Table 43A Types Of Networking Opportunities Employed By Cooperatives	53
Table 43B Interest in Types Of Networking Opportunities within Cooperatives	54
Table 44 Rank Order of Most Important Sources of Information for Managing	
the Cooperative	
Table 45 Cooperatives' Participation in Trade Shows	56

Executive Summary

Background

This report explores the ways in which small businesses and cooperative businesses contribute to the relative vitality of rural communities. By relative vitality we refer to the relative leading or lagging status of a community. We explore these contributions to community vitality through a lens of community economic development (CED).

The key questions in this context were:

- What types of leadership roles do small businesses and cooperatives play in rural communities?
- To what extent do small businesses and cooperatives benefit from, or contribute to, the "informality" of rural life?
- Are rural businesses and cooperatives "entrepreneurial" in nature?
- How do rural businesses and cooperatives access and use technology?
- What are the characteristics of success in rural businesses and cooperatives?
- What networks and information do rural businesses and cooperatives use and develop to enhance their operations?

Methodology

A small business is one that employs fewer than 50 people, located in one of several possible community locations (home based, storefront, or some other location), and with no restriction based on sales volume. A cooperative is any type of cooperative without regard to size, sales volume, or sector type. Thus it includes producer and consumer cooperatives, as well as those in the financial sector (credit unions and caisses populaires), and others. the data set is relatively small, comprised of 56 small businesses and 34 cooperatives from 20 different communities. The small sample sizes mean that analysis of subcomponents of the sample (by business types, for example) is extremely limited. It also means that the results must be viewed with caution. However, the findings do play an important part of informing a longer term inquiry about small businesses, cooperatives, and rural communities.

A total of 20 of communities within the New Rural Economy sampling frame chosen as locations to conduct interviews and surveys. Nine of these were leading communities and 11 were lagging communities.

Differences Between Small Business and Cooperative Sectors

- More of the cooperatives have experienced growth in each of sales, full time employment, and part time employment, in the past three years.
- Volunteer board members contribute almost twice as many hours per month to their volunteer work in the community, compared to that of small business persons.
- Small businesses are much more likely to contribute to community fundraising events than are cooperatives.

- Managers of cooperatives have a general impression that the community has the resources to offer financial help for people who are starting up a new business. Small business respondents do not share this view.
- There are few differences in the percent of cooperatives and small businesses which feel that they are leaders in their sector on a variety of business issues. However, many more of the cooperatives felt that they were leaders in the area of changing their pricing and in their purchasing practices.
- On a contrasting note, however, cooperatives were much less likely to feel that they, as a collective enterprise, exhibit entrepreneurial characteristics. In particular, many more of the small business respondents felt that they were innovative, that they liked to take on challenges, and that they take calculated risks.
- Cooperatives were much more likely than small businesses to have purchased new computer equipment in the past three years. Seven of the cooperatives and only two of the small businesses have e-commerce capacity (for completing transactions on-line), and 42% of cooperative managers compared with 26% of small businesses use the Internet for networking purposes.
- Small businesses were much more likely to invest in their business for the purpose of changing production or service patterns, while cooperatives were much more likely to invest for the purposes of improving customer service and modernizing their equipment and buildings.
- While there were few important differences related to the relative importance each places on the adoption of new technologies for various aspects of business activity, cooperatives were much more likely to place greater emphasis on this for the purposes of retaining existing markets and customers, and for training.
- Small businesses were much more likely to cite labour force problems as a disadvantage resulting from their rural location.
- Many more (almost one-third) of small businesses which had applied for a loan were turned down at some point, and almost all of these were in lagging communities.
- Small businesses we much more likely to suggest that local government and the federal government can and should be doing something to improve the business situation. Suggestions for action primarily related to the need for lower taxation at both levels.
- Many more of the cooperatives identified that increasing competition is a current challenge for their business operation.
- Many more in the small business sector are experiencing problems with high levels of payroll taxation.
- More of the cooperatives belong to formal networks and alliances, and many more of the cooperatives participate in regular face-to-face networking sessions within their communities and within their sectors.
- Cooperatives are more likely to participate in local trade shows than are small businesses.

Comparing the Business and Cooperative Sectors in Leading and Lagging Communities Within leading communities, the small business sector is much more likely than the cooperative sector to:

- agree that for people starting a new business there is difficulty getting financing from sources other than banks for their venture;
- agree that they are creative, innovative, like challenges, and take calculated risks;
- place a greater emphasis on adopting new technologies to develop new products and services and to develop new markets;
- state that the high quality of their products and services and their good reputation are leading factors explaining their business success.

Within leading communities, the cooperative sector is much more likely than the small business sector to:

- have experienced increases in full time employment in the past three years;
- contribute to fundraising activities;
- give prizes for events and to award scholarships to students;
- be impacted by provincial and federal government regulations as they relate to their ability to expand their business operations;
- to participate in local trade shows.

Within lagging communities, the small business sector is much more likely than the cooperative sector to:

- agree that they are innovative and like to take on challenges;
- be impacted by federal government regulations as they relate to their ability to expand their business operations;
- state that the high quality of their products and services and their good reputation are leading factors explaining their business success;
- participate in regional trade shows.

Within lagging communities, the cooperative sector is much more likely than the small business sector to:

- have experienced growth in sales and part time employment;
- have board members involved in community organizations as leaders;
- contribute to fundraising activities;
- see themselves as leaders in adopting new technologies, human resources management, changing their pricing, and adopting new purchasing practices;
- place a greater emphasis on adopting new technologies to retain existing markets, to develop new markets, and to develop new suppliers.

Conclusions

The small business and cooperative sectors have a number of skills and experiences which are transferable to a community economic development process. However, there are some limitations. Access to capital, lack of community support for new business startups, lack of community entrepreneurship, labour force challenges, and a generally (perceived or real) poor

business climate create real barriers for significant impact and participation in community economic development.

There are significant limitations to business growth and expansion as a revitalization strategy in rural communities. Entrepreneurs and cooperatives face significant challenges which must be addressed before they can make important contributions to local CED processes, and before they can be a driving force of rural revitalization. One might argue that few businesses or cooperatives in our sample can be considered as entrepreneurial at all. They are not risk takers by their own admission, and risk aversion is a major blockage to rural growth.

Policy Issues

- Targeted initiatives to increase access to information about the adoption of new technologies for a variety of business purposes is required. This is needed for both the small business and cooperative sectors.
- The federal government must advance its efforts to assist more businesses and cooperatives to use of e-commerce as a means to enhance competitiveness in the business sector. Very few of the respondents are providing e-commerce opportunities for the customers, and very few have plans to do so in the near future.
- Changes in the regulatory environment, as it affects both sectors in their business development, is warranted. At all three levels there was a universal call for lower taxation of all types, particularly as it relates to payroll taxes and the employment insurance system at the federal level, and property taxes at the local level. The cooperative sector identified that changes at the provincial level in the form of updating and even reinventing the Cooperatives Act, is needed.
- For both sectors, employees and accountants figured prominently as primary sources of information from important business decisions, for advice and guidance, and for general business information. Perhaps a targeted effort by government and sector organizations to provide these groups in particular with critical information about business and market issues would be helpful in strengthening their role as information sources.

Research Issues

- There is a need to understand more about the local dynamics of financial and moral support for people attempting to start new businesses. More research about personal and community values may help to understand the "moral" issues; more research about awareness of and access to alternative forms of financing, including emerging forms of micro-credit, community loan funds, and community foundations, and existing vehicles within banks, credit unions, community business development centres, the Business Development Bank of Canada, and the various federal and provincial development agencies, would be helpful. Furthermore, existing research related to this issue should be reviewed with an eye to potential policy and program reforms that might improve the situation for rural business startups.
- There is an opportunity to explore more thoroughly the nature of collective and community entrepreneurship. It also appears that business people born locally identify quality of life reasons moreso than economic ones to explain why they are located where they are, while

those from away are more likely to identify economic reasons. What are the successful models for building an entrepreneurial culture? Further research on the entrepreneurship characteristics of the locally born business people (who are more concentrated in lagging communities) compared to business people born in other communities (more concentrated in leading communities) might help to uncover critical points related to relative business success and entrepreneurship. Research on the linkages between the education system (specifically its curriculum) and entrepreneurship development should be reviewed with a view to exploring how best practices or success can be modelled elsewhere.

- For both sectors there is a greater emphasis on technology use for product / service development and for market development, and less emphasis related to human resources, employee training, and working with suppliers. More research on the potential workplace opportunities and barriers for using technology for internal and external training, and the support elements required for that, will help to understand how best to deliver this support.
- Small businesses and cooperatives have difficulty with building awareness about their businesses during startup and first year of operations, and particularly in lagging communities. There are issues here related to adequate financial resources for generating this awareness, but there may be other issues related to the effectiveness of identifying appropriate target markets for promotion, and to the relative support in the local community. Is the problem specific within their community, within the market they target, or germaine to particular sectors? We could speculate that insufficient business marketing skills combined with a lack of capital for marketing and advertising could be part of the problem. More research on this issue is required.
- Businesses generally face significant challenges to expand their sales in markets beyond the immediate community. Many of our respondents felt that businesses in their community faced problems in expanding to meet demand and opportunity, and many felt that businesses generally lack of skill and knowledge for expansion. More research is required to understand the specific barriers.
- While it is clear that "amenity" related factors are the most frequently cited, it is less clear what the specific amenities are that lead people to choose a rural business location, or the extent to which the location is freely chosen or chosen by default due to a lack of choice or mobility. Further research on these issues is needed, particularly from a CED and a business growth perspective.
- From a research perspective, there is an opportunity to learn more about the transfer of skills and knowledge business people and cooperative leaders bring with them from their business experiences into community activities. What are the specific skills and knowledge they employ in their broader community activities? To what extent do they "transfer" these to others, in a capacity building context?
- Many of the small businesses use personal finances for their operations, and only half use their business profits for operations financing. It is unclear how much of this pattern is due to the pluriactivity of rural businesses, and how much of it is part of a survival strategy. More research is required in this area.

1.0 Introduction

The purpose of this report is to explore the ways in which small businesses and cooperative businesses contribute to the relative vitality of rural communities. By relative vitality we refer to the relative leading or lagging status of a community. Leading communities are broadly characterized as being closer to metropolitan areas, having more of their economic base focussed on global markets, having fewer market fluctuations, having higher levels of local capabilities (including, among others, higher levels of education, income, stable households), and having higher economic outcomes (including, among others, higher levels of home ownership and higher incomes). (Reimer, 2000, 1997a, 1997b) For lagging communities the inverse is true.

We explore these contributions to community vitality through a lens of community economic development (CED). Different rural communities in Canada have had relative success in development. Some communities have experienced growth, others decline. Some have rebounded from the loss of major employers, while others have witnessed a spiralling decline in their economic fortunes. What differentiates these communities? Are there particular characteristics, particularly with respect to small businesses and cooperatives, which might suggest a greater likelihood of successful development? In recent years there has been a growing interest in CED as an approach to community development. This approach seems to be somewhat linked to successful development in communities.

For our purposes, CED is defined as a process whereby local residents take control over local problem solving and their future development, through identifying and realizing opportunities. (Dykeman, 1987) CED is about enhancing the quality of life, the viability of community, and stability in the community. It involves a comprehensive, wide-ranging program of activities (economic, social, environmental) for the overall improvement of the community as a place to live and work. Underlying the notion of CED is the desire of the community to build community assets, primarily through the guise of community-owned businesses, where the income generated is redistributed locally for the social and economic betterment of all.

The relative health and success of the small business sector is an important component of a community's well-being. Small businesses are the major generator of new jobs, and they contribute a great deal to the overall quality of life in community. However, small businesses are also the most vulnerable to change brought about by shifts in the marketplace. In some cases small businesses serve as a laboratory for experimentation with new business ideas at low risk levels. (Wehrell, 1994)

It is also recognized that access to training and access to information are key issues which affect the competitiveness and viability of small businesses. (Joyal, 2000) A lack of training for business owners and their employees, and lack of information on a wide variety of topics and issues, is equated with a lack of competitiveness and fewer prospects for long term growth and success of businesses. Those with greater access are more likely to be more successful. Studies have shown that small rural businesses generally do not have sophisticated external information

networks, relying more on information obtained directly from their customers. (Julien, 1997, Fourcade and Marchesnay, 1997) Joyal (2000) also identifies that developing an export market and developing partnerships and networks for a variety of tasks are also critically important for many small businesses. It is the development of these networks which present an opportunity for local and regional sharing of information as a means to business growth and expansion. (Belotti, 1999; Niitykangas, 1996; Rallet and Torre, 1998)

In looking at the key elements of CED, three are directly related to the small business sector's potential involvement and integration into a local, CED process: access to capital; entrepreneurial spirit; and leadership. (Dykeman, 1992) Successful CED initiatives involve the business community and the skills, experiences and attitudes they bring with them to the process. It is recognized that CED is a complex multi-stakeholder process. Communities with a small business sector which is entrepreneurial, which has access to capital or which invests in other businesses, and which offers leadership skills to the community, are more likely (but not always) to have successful CED efforts. Studies have shown, however, that in rural areas many of the key entrepreneurs tend to be people who have moved into the community from elsewhere. (Illouz-Winiki and Paillard, 1998; Lulec, 1998; Nothdurft, 1992) Sometimes CED is driven by people and entrepreneurs not originally from the community.

With respect to cooperatives, there is a long history in Canada of their role in community economic development, particularly in rural communities, and particularly in Atlantic Canada, Quebec, and the Prairies. (MacPherson, 1979; Macleod, 1994; Phifer, List and Faulkner, 1989; Fairbairn, 1997; Baker and Hammond Ketilson, 1994) Furthermore, cooperatives play a role in fostering multi-community collaboration. (Baker, 1990; Fairbairn, et al., 1995; Borich, 1994) Rather than having individual communities engage in competition for limited resources, services, and markets, co-operatives can provide models and vehicles for collective action on an intercommunity basis. (Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, 1997) This aspect forms the basis for identifying and selecting cooperatives for this study, as noted in Section 2.0 Methodology.

The cooperative sector also makes important contributions to social capacity building along with economic growth. (Fairbairn, 1998; Fairbairn, et al., 2000) From a social capacity perspective, continuing education, leadership skills, and civic and social engagement are all benefits of co-operative enterprises. (Laidlaw, 1971; Phifer, List, and Faulkner, 1989) They are inclusive organizations that encourage, and benefit from, membership diversity and help create community members who are experienced in collaborative and consensual approaches to decision making. (Fairbairn, et al., 1995; Flora, et al., 1997; Hammond Ketilson, et al., 1998) Co-operative involvement contributes to community capacity building for further community development undertakings. (Hustedde, 1991; Isreal and Beaulieu, 1990)

For an economic growth perspective, co-operatives fill gaps in the marketplace and generally satisfy a common need or service. They are particularly relevant for traditionally under-serviced rural and remote communities of Canada. (Shepstone, 2000) Furthermore, local business enterprises also benefit from managers and employees who have gained practical experience through their involvement with voluntary organizations such as co-operatives. (Wickham, Fuchs

and Miller-Pitt, n.d.; Morehouse, 1989) As the literature points out, then, there are also many similar connections between cooperatives and community economic development. Of particular interest are the leadership skills developed within cooperatives which might be transferred to community economic development processes and activities, and the experiences within cooperatives for enhancing and guiding community economic development work.

Thus, we ask several questions:

- What types of leadership roles do small businesses and cooperatives play in rural communities?
- To what extent do small businesses and cooperatives benefit from, or contribute to, the "informality" of rural life?
- Are rural businesses and cooperatives "entrepreneurial" in nature?
- How do rural businesses and cooperatives access and use technology?
- What are the characteristics of success in rural businesses and cooperatives?
- What networks and information do rural businesses and cooperatives use and develop to enhance their operations?

There are two important limitations in this report. First, it is very difficult to distinguish which are the dependent or independent variables related to leading and lagging communities. Do communities which are characterized as being leading find themselves in this state because they have entrepreneurial business people, or are they more entrepreneurial because of their leading status? To address this limitation we look at the strength of the associative relationship between the leading and lagging status of the community and a number of different variables. Second, the data set is relatively small, comprised of 56 small businesses and 34 cooperatives from 20 different communities. The small sample sizes mean that analysis of subcomponents of the sample (by business types, for example) is extremely limited. It also means that the results must be viewed with caution. However, the findings do play an important part of informing a longer term inquiry about small businesses, cooperatives, and rural communities.

1.1 Outline of Report

The report begins with a brief discussion of the methodology employed (Section 2.0) and the basic characteristics of the two population samples (Section 3.0). It then moves to an analysis of the small business sector first (Section 4.0), and then that of the cooperative sector (Section 5.0). This is followed by a discussion of the similarities and differences between the two sectors (Section 6.0), and between leading and lagging communities (Section 7.0). The report concludes with a discussion of policy issues and implications stemming from the findings, and directions for future research (Section 8.0).

2.0 Methodology

For the purposes of this report a small business is one that employs fewer than 50 people, located in one of several possible community locations (home based, storefront, or some other location),

and with no restriction based on sales volume. A cooperative is any type of cooperative without regard to size, sales volume, or sector type. Thus it includes producer and consumer cooperatives, as well as those in the financial sector (credit unions and caisses populaires), and others.

The process used for selecting communities for study is based on the work of the Canadian Rural Revitalization Foundation's (CRRF) New Rural Economy (NRE) project. (Reimer, 1997a; 1997b) Using the census subdivision (CSD) as the level of geography, all CSDs in Canada were analysed using a factor analysis procedure based on census data describing the following five categories:

- exposure to global processes
- market fluctuations
- metropolitan adjacency
- local capabilities
- economic outcomes

The combination of these factors result in a "sampling grid" composed of 32 cells or "different" types of communities, half of which are categorized as leading communities, and half of which are lagging. A single community from each cell was selected to represent that type of rural community. A total of 20 of these communities were then chosen as locations to conduct interviews and surveys, based on a variety of factors including resources available and availability of site researchers to complete the work. Nine of these were leading communities and 11 were lagging communities. Table 1 shows the communities where the research took place in this study.

Community	Province	Status	Community	Province	Status
Winterton	NF	Lagging	Tweed	ON	Lagging
Twillingate	NF	Lagging	Carden	ON	Leading
Lot 16	PE	Leading	Usborne	ON	Leading
Springhill	NS	Lagging	Seguin	ON	Leading
Blissfield	NB	Lagging	Spalding	SK	Lagging
Neguac	NB	Lagging	Wood River	SK	Leading
Ste-Francoise	QC	Lagging	Hussar	AB	Lagging
Cap-a-L'aigle	QC	Leading	Ferintosh	AB	Lagging
St-Damase	QC	Leading	Tumbler Ridge	BC	Leading
Taschereau	QC	Lagging	Mackenzie	BC	Leading

Table 1 Location	n and Status	of Communities
------------------	--------------	----------------

Field work was conducted during the summer of 2000. A stratified sampling procedure in each community was used to select a maximum of four small businesses; one each from manufacturing, exporting (to a national or international market), e-commerce (where customers

of the business purchase products or services on-line), plus one other business. A total of 56 completed surveys were returned (of the approximate 1250 small businesses in these communities) from the small businesses identified. In some communities there were fewer than four businesses; in others, due to refusal or non-participation on the part of some, fewer than four surveys were completed. An attempt was made to obtain a completed survey from the owner; in cases where this was not possible, a senior manager was selected.

A full "population census" approach was taken to select all possible cooperatives located within each of the chosen communities. A cooperative was included in the population if any one of the following conditions were satisfied: the cooperative was located in that community; the cooperative provided services to that community; the cooperative had members from that community. A total of 34 cooperatives (of the approximate total of 42 in these communities, except Twillingate, Winterton, Carden, and Seguin, where there were no cooperatives) were surveyed. An attempt was made to survey both the manager and one board member (preferably the president or someone on the executive) from each cooperative. This was not always possible. A total of 26 managers and 25 board members were surveyed, from the 34 cooperatives. For the purpose of analysis, factual and structural information about individual cooperatives is drawn from the surveys of the 26 managers plus the surveys of the 8 cooperatives from which we only received a completed survey from a board member. Analysis of issues where opinions or judgements were required are discussed from the perspectives of both the managers as a group and of the board members as a group.

It is important to note that the business orientation, then, of the two samples is quite different. Within the small business sample, for example, there would not be any from the financial sector because bank branches are not considered small businesses. On the other hand, because of the "census" approach to collect information from all cooperatives, credit unions and caisses populaires, common in many rural communities, are prevalent within our cooperative sample. So there is, both by default and by design, no intention and no possibility to compare similar business sectors between the small business and cooperative samples. Furthermore, given the relatively small samples in both, there is no attempt to provide a detailed analysis or breakdown across sectors.

3.0 Profile of Small Business Sector and Cooperative Sector Respondents

Of the small businesses surveyed, we were able to obtain direct responses from the owners in 82% of cases, while another 11% of respondents were the managers of those businesses. (Table 2A) Three-quarters of the respondents were males, while 25% were females. A total of 23 businesses (41%) were located in leading communities, with 59% in lagging communities.

	% (n=56)
Owner	82
Manager	11
Other	7
Male	75
Female	25
Leading	41
Lagging	59

Table 2A Business Respondents by Position in Firm, Gender, and Community Type

Of the cooperatives surveyed, we were able to obtain direct responses from 26 managers and 25 board members from the 34 cooperatives. Two-thirds of the managers surveyed were males and one-third were females. Almost three-quarters of the board members were males. Of the 34 cooperatives, 19 (56%) were in lagging communities, with balance being in leading communities. (Table 2B)

Table 2B	Cooperative	Respondents	by Gender and	Community Type
==				

	Managers % (n=26)	Board Members % (n=25)	All Coops % (n=34)
Male	65	72	n/a
Female	35	18	n/a
Leading	39	44	44
Lagging	62	56	56

Almost half (46%) of businesses were of a "sole owner" nature; however, only 39% of those in leading communities compared with 52% in lagging communities were owned by a sole owner. (Table 3A) Leading communities had a greater percentage of family owned businesses (30%) compared to those in lagging communities (19%). The higher degree of "partnership" businesses among those in leading communities suggests a more socially integrated business climate in those communities.

Because the methodological approach called for the targeting of manufacturing, exporting, and ecommerce businesses, it is not surprising that the two most common types of businesses in the sample are processing / manufacturing (27%) and hospitality / accommodation (20%). a greater share of the businesses in lagging communities were in fact from the processing / manufacturing sector (31%) compared with only 19% among businesses in leading communities. (Table 3A) Almost half (47%) of respondents were born in and around the community in which their business operates. However, there is a degree of difference in the birth origin of respondents between the two types of communities. In leading communities there is a much more even distribution of respondents who were born in the community, in urban and rural communities elsewhere in the province, and in another province. In lagging communities more than half of the respondents were born in the community, with another 25% from another rural community within the same province. Relatively fewer are from another province or country. (Table 3A)

The birth origin of business owners is also directly related to the self-identification of the primary reasons for locating their business in rural communities. Those born locally were much more likely to identify quality of life reasons (born here, the rural environment, the clean and pristine environment), while those from other places were more likely to identify economic or business reasons (lower taxes, employee pool, market and business linkages, etc). These distinctions are important because they suggest that "entrepreneurs" who are born locally might be more inclined to remain in the community over a period of time, while those from away (who were attracted by economic conditions) might be prone to moving to another location under appropriate economic circumstances.

	Total % (n=56)	Leading % (n=23)	Lagging % (n=33)
sole owner	46	39	52
partnership with other(s) in family	24	30	19
partnership with other(s)	17	17	16
other ownership structure	13	13	13
processing/manufacturing	27	22	31
accommodation/hospitality	20	22	19
retail/wholesale	13	17	9
construction/maintenance	11	13	9
other	29	26	31
born locally	47	39	53
born in another rural community in this province	21	17	25
born in an urban community in this province	13	13	12
born in another province	14	26	6
born in another country	4	4	4

Table 3A Ownership	Structure.	Type of Business.	and Birthplace	of Respondent
	on acture,	, Type of Dubiness,		or responsent

Among the cooperatives surveyed, one-third were in the financial sector (credit unions and caisses populaires). The next largest group, about one-quarter, were in the primary sector (for example, forestry harvesting and management). Other cooperatives in the sample included those providing services (such as housing or funeral cooperatives), utility providers (all found in lagging communities), and others. (Table 3B) Primary and financial sector cooperatives make up one-third each of the cooperatives in leading communities.

	Total % (n=34)	Leading % (n=15)	Lagging % (n=19)
financial	32	33	32
primary	27	33	21
tertiary	15	20	11
utilities	9	0	16
secondary	3	0	5
other	15	13	16

Table 3B Cooperative Business Type in Sample

Many of those involved in cooperatives are originally from the communities in which they now live. Among managers, almost two-thirds were born locally, and 75% of managers working for cooperatives in lagging communities were born locally. Three-quarters of board members were born locally with no important differences between those serving cooperatives in leading or lagging communities. (Table 3C)

Table 3C Birthplace of Cooperative Managers and Board Members

	Managers		Board Members			
	Total % (n=26)	Lead % (n=10)	Lagg % (n=16)	Total % (n=25)	Lead % (n=11)	Lagg % (n=14)
born locally	62	40	75	76	73	79
born in another rural community in this province	12	20	6	4	0	7
born in an urban community in this province	4	0	6	8	9	7
born in another province	15	20	13	8	9	7
born in another country	8	20	0	4	9	0

Half of the cooperatives surveyed have a board membership of 7 or fewer, and this is relatively the same for cooperatives in both leading and lagging communities. However, the average board

size in lagging communities in 9.4 compared to 7.4 in leading communities. (Table 4) On the surface this suggests that more participation in overall decision making is present in lagging communities. However, it might also suggest that there is a higher degree of inefficiency with these larger board, and that they might be less innovative and risk-taking as wider and more distributed concerns are taken into account. Membership size is different between the two types of communities, with those in leading communities have higher average number of members.

	Total % (n=34)	Leading % (n=15)	Lagging % (n=19)
Board Size - Average	8.5	7.4	9.4
less than 7	15	33	0
7	35	27	42
8-9	29	27	32
10 or more	21	13	26
Membership Size - Average	2494	2990	2081
less than 261	24	27	22
260 - 1100	24	14	33
1101 - 3700	28	42	17
more than 3700	24	26	28

Table 4 Cooperative Board Size and Membership

The average age of the businesses is 24.0 years, with the average being 28.0 years in leading communities and 21.7 years in lagging communities. The average length of time the current owner has owned the business is 12.6 years; with the average being 12.8 in leading communities and 12.4 in lagging communities. The quartile distribution (Table 5A) shows that half of the businesses were started prior to 1984, with abut two-thirds of those from leading communities compared to only 42% of those from lagging communities having started in this time period.

Table 5A	Year	Business	Opened
----------	------	----------	--------

	Total % (n=56)	Leading % (n=23)	Lagging % (n=33)
pre 1966	26	22	29
1965 - 1983	26	43	13
1984 - 1990	23	13	29
1990 - present	26	22	29
Total	100	100	100

The average age of the cooperatives is 45.0 years, with the average being 48.7 years in leading communities and 42.4 years in lagging communities. The quartile distribution (Table 5B) shows that half of the cooperatives were started prior to 1946, with no important differences noted between those in leading and lagging communities. However, there is a greater concentration of cooperatives in leading communities which started before 1938, and greater concentration of cooperatives in lagging communities which started during the second World War.

	Total % (n=32)	Leading % (n=13)	Lagging % (n=19)
pre 1938	22	46	5
1938 - 1945	28	8	43
1946 - 1971	22	16	26
1975 - present	28	30	26
Total	100	100	100

Table 5B Year Cooperative Opened

Rural businesses are becoming more involved in the global marketplace. Between 1995 and 1999 there have been some changes in the distribution of markets of rural businesses, with a greater share of the mean percent of sales going to national and international markets. This is largely at the expense of any provincial market the businesses may have had. For example, in 1995 national and international markets comprised only 23% of the market share, compared to 29% in 1999. (Table 6A) This shift has been even more pronounced in lagging communities, where there was a collective increase from 21% to 31% in that time period. This suggests that businesses in lagging communities are becoming more involved in, and perhaps somewhat more dependent upon, global markets.

Table 6A Distribution of Rural Business Markets, Mean Percent of Sales, 1995 and 1999

% of Sales	Total (n=56)		Leading (n=23)		Lagging (n=33)	
	1995	1999	1995	1999	1995	1999
Local, within this community	42	40	46	49	39	34
Provincial, outside this community	36	31	30	24	39	35
National, outside this province	6	10	7	12	4	9
International, outside Canada	17	19	17	15	17	22

Table 6A includes all of the businesses in the sample. However, only one-third of the businesses actually have an export (to international markets) component to their operations, including one-third of those from each of leading and lagging communities. Only one of these is a "sole

owner", while most of the others (75%) are partnership businesses. Two-thirds of those with an export component are processors or manufacturers. One-third of those with an export component have adopted certification of international quality standards, while another one-third are in the process of doing so, or thinking about doing so. More than one-third (39%) of those in the export business identify that they are currently affected by trade liberalization, but almost one-third don't know if this is the case or not.

Five additional small businesses (4 of them processors / manufacturers) expressed an interest in exporting. Collectively they identified a need for information on markets and opportunities, assistance with becoming certified to international standards, and assistance with marketing to international destinations.

Cooperatives in this sample are highly focussed on local and provincial markets. This is not surprising given that one-third of the cooperatives are credit unions and caisses populaires, which have a heavy local market orientation, and that there are few goods producing cooperatives in the sample. Cooperatives in lagging communities were much more likely to have some provincial market orientation. (Table 6B)

% of Sales	Total (n=34)		Leading (n=15)		Lagging (n=19)	
	1995	1999	1995	1999	1995	1999
Local, within this community	76	75	94	92	58	62
Provincial, outside this community	20	21	5	7	36	32
National, outside this province	4	4	1	1	7	6
International, outside Canada	0	0	0	0	0	1

Table 6B Distribution of Cooperative Business Markets, Mean Percent of Sales, 1995 and 1999

Businesses, particularly those in leading communities, have experienced an increase in sales volume in the past three years. Almost 75% in leading communities have done so. However, this growth in sales volume has not been matched with employment growth. Slightly more than one-quarter each have had increases in full and part time employment, with those in leading communities more likely to have done so. (Table 7A)

Table 7A Businesses With Increase in Sales Volume and Employment in Past Three Years

	Total (%)	Leading (%)	Lagging (%)
Sales volume (n=53)	62	74	53
Full time employment (n=48)	29	33	26
Part time employment (n=47)	28	35	22

A greater percentage of the exporting businesses have had increases in sales volume (79%), full time employment (62%), and part time employment (46%).

Cooperatives in the sample are reasonably healthy when viewed from a change in sales volume and employment perspective. Most (80%) experienced a growth in sales volume over the past three years, while almost half have increased full and part time staff complements. Sales increases and full time employment increases were slightly more prominent among those in leading communities, with part time employment increases more prominent among those in lagging communities. (Table 7B)

In comparing the sales and employment growth patterns for cooperatives and small businesses, we note that more of the cooperatives have experienced growth in sales and both full time and part time employment in the past three years. More of the cooperatives in leading communities compared to small businesses have experienced growth in full time employment, while more of the cooperatives in lagging communities have experience growth in sales and part time employment.

Table 7B Cooperatives With Increase in Sales Volume and Employment in Past Three Years

	Total % (n=30)	Leading % (n=12)	Lagging % (n=18)
Sales volume (n=30)	80	85	77
Full time employment (n=30)	48	58	41
Part time employment (n=30)	48	46	50

Table 7B shows the findings for all cooperatives in the sample. If we factor out the financial cooperatives, the only differences that emerge is that 70% of the financial cooperatives compared to only 39% of all other cooperatives experienced an increase in full time employment in the past three years.

4.0 The Role of Small Businesses in Community Economic Development

4.1 Small Business Contributions to Rural Communities

What types of leadership roles do small businesses play in rural communities? A total of 35 (63%) of respondents belong to some volunteer group as a member (65% of those in leading communities, and 61% in lagging communities). The measure of association, Phi¹, is very small (at 0.05) and statistically insignificant, indicating that there is little or no relationship between belonging to a volunteer group and the leading or lagging status of a community. However, there is a strong relationship between being born in another community and being involved with a volunteer group. The measure of association is 0.34 and is statistically significant (0.01). People who have moved into a community to start a business tend to get involved and contribute. The most common groups that business people are members of relate to the environment (20%), public benefit (20%), sports (18%), economic such as a Chamber of Commerce, and religious (16%).

A total of 23 (41%) of respondents belong to some volunteer group as a leader (48% of those in leading communities, and 36% of those in lagging communities). The associative Phi measure for leading and lagging community comparison is marginally higher at 0.11 (but statistically insignificant). Furthermore, there are no differences between those born locally and those who have moved into the community from elsewhere. The most common groups where business people play leadership roles are economic such as a Chamber of Commerce (16%), religious (10%), and environment (10%). Business people contribute approximately 7.5 hours per month of their time to volunteer organization activities, with no difference in the average amount of time contributed by business people in leading or lagging communities.

In addition to volunteer time, business people also contribute in other ways. Most of the businesses, 45 (87%) contribute financially (in ways other than by paying taxes and providing employment income) to their communities. Almost all (96%) businesses in leading communities compared to 81% of those in lagging communities contribute financially, suggesting that businesses in leading communities are in a somewhat better position to contribute. Those who contribute most commonly give to fundraisers and sponsor specific organizations or events. (Table 8A)

¹Phi is a statistical chi-square based measure of association for nominal data (any data which is "categorized"). It divides the chi-square by the sample size and takes the square root. It is very similar to Pearson correlation in that it assigns a value of between -1 and +1. As with other relationship measures, the strength of the relationship is more statistically significant if its significance value is close to zero. In this case, we use Phi to measure association between leading and lagging status and questions with yes/no response categories. The closer the Phi value is to -1, the greater the relationship to a "lagging" status of the community; the closer it is to 1, the greater the relationship to a "leading" status of the community.

The Role of Small Business and Cooperatives in CED

Of those who contribute:	Total % (n=45)	Leading % (n=21)	Lagging % (n=24)
Give to fundraisers	69	67	71
Sponsor specific organizations or events	40	29	50
Cash/prizes for events	31	33	29
Scholarships	9	10	8
Other	20	24	16

Table 8A Financial Contributions to Community by Local Businesses

Slightly fewer businesses make non-financial contributions, with 42 (78%) doing so. There are no differences between those in leading and lagging communities in this regard. (Table 8B) Typically this involves applying their business skills to their participation in a volunteer organization. Others do so through charity work, or by making space available in their business for activities. Some also provide co-op work placements for students.

Table 8B Non-Financial Contributions to Community by Local Businesses

Of those who contribute:	Total % (n= 42)	Leading % (n= 17)	Lagging % (n= 25)
Member of group	41	47	36
Charity work	32	24	36
Use of space	29	35	36
Donate labour / equipment	21	18	24
Other	33	47	24

In a general sense, the business community sees their contributions to general community activities as important. Most agree that business people get involved in community organizations, particularly as members, and it is their perception that the general public sees the involvement of business people in community activities and organizations as being a good thing for the community. (Table 9) However, there are important differences between leading and lagging communities. Business people from leading communities were more likely to agree with these points than their counterparts. For example, there is a much stronger relationship between business people feeling that the general public sees their involvement as positive for the community and the leading status of a community.

Agree or strongly agree that:	Total % (n=47)	Leading % (n=18)	Lagging % (n=29)
Business people tend to get involved in non-business, voluntary organizations in this community.	75	83	69
Business people tend to get involved as leaders in non-business activities or events.	47	56	41
When business people get involved as leaders in non-business activities or events, other people in the community see this as a good thing.	72	83	66

Table 9 Businesses' Perceptions of Their Community Involvement

4.2 Small Business and the Informality of Rural Community Life

To what extent do small businesses benefit from or contribute to the "informality" of rural life as it is directly related to business development? One of the potentially beneficial aspects of rural business operations is that there might be a greater opportunity to have family members or relatives assist in various ways with the business, particularly when it comes to financing. However, only 19% of respondents (26% from leading communities and 13% from lagging communities) indicated that they received a loan from a family member or relative to assist with the startup of the business. Furthermore, only 14% indicated that this was the case (11% from leading communities and 17% from lagging communities) with respect to financing the ongoing operations of the business.

Many of the businesses identified a general lack of support from the community for individuals attempting to start a business. Almost 40% agreed that it was difficult for businesses to access financing from sources other than banks, and this was found to be the case more so in leading communities. (Table 10) This finding suggests that there might be some degree of informal financial support forthcoming in lagging communities. However, even fewer, only 18%, agreed that financial help from the local community could be obtained. The fact that only 35% of respondents agreed that when someone wants to start a business they are generally given lots of encouragement and support from the local community suggests that there is a question about social cohesion and about willingness to help others succeed. More of the respondents from lagging communities felt that there would be support for some starting a business, suggesting perhaps that in communities with a smaller business sector there is more willingness to support new startups to broaden the base of business activity.

Agree or strongly agree that:	Total % (n=47)	Leading % (n=18)	Lagging % (n=29)
Businesses I know have trouble getting enough financing from other sources.	39	50	34
When someone wants to start a new business, they are generally given lots of encouragement and support.	35	28	41
When someone wants to start a new business, they are generally able to get some financial help from the local community if they need it.	18	22	17

Table 10 Businesses' Perceptions of Community Support for Businesses

4.3 Entrepreneurship Among Small Businesses in Rural Communities

Entrepreneurship has been identified as an important component of community economic development and rural revitalization. (ACOA, 1996; Dykeman, 1992; Dykeman, 1987; Flora et al, 1997; Stevenson, 1997; Wehrell, 1994) Research has shown that there are some characteristics which set entrepreneurs apart from managers and others in business. These include, among others, risk-taking, innovation, creativity, and investment. Are rural businesses "entrepreneurial" in nature?

In a general sense rural businesses do not see themselves as playing particularly strong leadership roles in the business environment in which they operate. Fewer than half of the businesses indicated that they were always or usually a leader in their field in a number of key business elements related to customer relations, technology, market development, human resources, pricing, and purchasing. It is only in relation to the development or marketing of new products and services where more than half of the business respondents indicated that they were always or usually a leader. Where there seems to be differences between businesses in leading and lagging communities on these points is in relation to enhancing customer relations, which is more associated with businesses in leading communities, and in developing new products or services, which is more closely associated with businesses in leading communities for expansion and development through new products and services, likely because of a larger customer base to work with. Businesses in lagging communities perhaps work hard at maintaining their relationships with their customers and possibly attracting new customers, in order to keep the business viable.

Agree that the business is almost always or usually a leader in:	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %
Developing/marketing new products/services (n=44)	57	67	50
Enhancing customer relations (n=45)	44	32	54
Adopting new technologies (n=41)	44	44	44
Targeting new markets (n=45)	39	35	40
Human resource training (n=41)	37	41	33
Purchasing practices (n=43)	26	17	31
Changing Pricing (n=45)	24	26	23

Table 11A Businesses'	Perceptions of their	Leadership in the	Marketplace
-----------------------	----------------------	-------------------	-------------

There are few differences when we look specifically at exporting businesses, except that significantly fewer (23%) see themselves as leaders in enhancing customer relations. Also, there are no important differences on these issues when comparing the responses of those born locally and those born in other places and who have moved into the community.

On a somewhat contrasting note, however, is the fact that many of the respondents indicated that they always or frequently exhibit many other entrepreneurship characteristics, including wanting to be their own boss, being innovative and creative, and taking on challenges when others say they can not be done. (Table 11B) There appears to be important differences between leading and lagging communities on two of these elements. Being one's own boss and taking calculated risks are identified more often by business respondents in leading communities. Indeed all of the respondents from leading communities indicated that they liked being their own boss. However, the conclusion that we draw from this evidence is that business people in rural communities are generally risk adverse (only half are risk-takers), especially in lagging communities.

Agree or frequently agree that:	Total %	Leading %	Lagging %
I like to be my own boss (n=51)	86	100	75
I am innovative (try new ideas) (n=52)	79	74	83
I am creative (do things a bit differently) (n=52)	73	74	72
When someone says "it can't be done", I take it as a challenge (n=52)	67	70	66
I take calculated risks (n=52)	50	57	45
When I choose to start a business, a stable income is more important than potential for growth (n=51)	31	31	31

Table 11B Businesses' Perceptions of their Individual Entrepreneurial Spirit

There are only marginally more among those in the export business who agree or frequently agree with each of these statements about their individual entrepreneurial characteristics. However, when we compare the responses of those born locally and those born elsewhere, we find that 52% of those born locally agree that a stable income is more important than potenial for growth, compated to only 14% of those born elsewhere. This suggests that the latter group is much more mobile and more opportunistic than those born locally.

To what extent do small business people perceive that their communities are entrepreneurial in nature? Almost one-third of respondents felt this was the case, but only 26% of those from leading communities compared with 36% of those from lagging communities felt this way. This suggests that people in lagging communities might be doing more "creative" things to keep their communities going, and thereby giving the appearance of being entrepreneurial in nature.

Most rural business owners (81%) have invested some of their own personal savings and earnings in the startup of their businesses. (Table 12A) A much smaller percentage have used a mortgage on their home or property, or have used their personal credit card. There are no statistically significant differences between respondents from leading and lagging communities. However, the associative Phi statistic for each of the three variables, while small and statistically insignificant, is negative which suggests that the characteristic of using personal finances for business startups is somewhat associated with a lagging status of the community.

	Total %	Leading & Lagging	
	(n=43)	Phi	Significance
Personal savings and earnings of the owner	81	-0.18	0.25
Mortgage on owner's home or property	35	-0.18	0.81
Personal credit card	23	-0.16	0.3

Table 12A Use of Personal Finances for Business Startup

The extent to which personal finances are used for the ongoing operations of the business is reasonably high at 61%. Only 55% are using profits generated by the business to finance their ongoing operations. (Table 12B) These findings suggest that many of the businesses are unable to sustain their operations by the business income and profits generated. This is not a healthy sign for rural businesses. It also suggests that many of these businesses may be involved in other activities, including the informal economy, in order to keep the main business operation alive. The use of personal finances is more associated with a lagging community status, while the use of profits from the business is more associated with a leading community status. In both cases, the Phi statistic is statistically insignificant.

	Total % (n=42)	Leading & Lagging	
		Phi	Significance
Personal savings and earnings of the owner	61	-0.14	0.35
Profits generated by the business	55	0.25	0.11
Personal credit card	31	-0.19	0.21
Mortgage on owner's home or property	17	0.11	0.49

Table 12B Use of Personal Finances and Business Profits for Business Operations

Investing in the business on an ongoing basis is also an important element of entrepreneurship and sound business management. In the past three years, 71% of rural businesses have purchased new production or service equipment, 67% have purchased new computer equipment, and 51% have renovated or expanded existing buildings. (Table 13A) One type of investment stands out as an important difference between leading and lagging communities. The renovation or expansion of existing buildings is more associated (but not statistically significant) with a lagging community status. It is unclear about the underlying motivations which explains this difference. One hypothesis might be that these businesses are "catching up" to those in leading communities.

	Total % (n=49)	Leading & Lagging	
		Phi	Significance
purchased new production/service equipment	71	0.14	0.32
purchased new computer equipment	67	0.12	0.4
renovated or expanded existing buildings	51	-0.21	0.14
purchased or built new buildings	31	-0.05	0.73
installed new information management systems	27	-0.07	0.61

The most common purposes for investments are to improve the quality and increase the volume of products and services, and to modernize equipment. (Table 13B) The associative Phi statistic is reasonably strong in showing a relationship with a lagging community status on several purposes for investment, including improving the quality of product or service (-0.4773), increasing the volume (-0.4026), and to work with new markets or customers (-0.3012). Each of these are also statistically significant.

	Total %	Leading	Leading & Lagging	
	(n=49)	Phi	Significance	
to improve the quality of product/service	59	-0.48	0	
to increase the volume of products/services	55	-0.4	0.05	
to modernize equipment	51	-0.08	0.6	
to improve customer service	47	-0.18	0.21	
to offer new products/services	45	-0.23	0.11	
to modernize buildings/workspace	39	-0.22	0.12	
to change production/service patterns	39	-0.13	0.36	
to work with new markets or customers	33	-0.3	0.04	

Table 13B Purpose of Recent Capital Investments by Businesses

Business growth and expansion is also seen as an important element of overall community wellbeing. The skills and attitudes within business sector associated with growth and expansion are also those which are helpful and trabsferable to larger community processes. Table (14) identifies the perceptions of businesses in our sample about these skills and attitudes within their communities. Half of the respondents feel that businesses generally face significant challenges to expand their sales in markets beyond the immediate community. While we did not ask for explanations or details for this perception, there are likely a multitude of factors including geographic isolation, lack of money for expansion, and lack of information on markets. On a related noted, almost half (43%) felt that businesses in their community have trouble getting enough financing from banks.

There is also a preception that businesses in rural communities do not have the skills or attitudes required for expansion. Only 29% felt that businesses in their community had few problems expanding to meet demand and opportunity. There could be other underlying factors here, including labour force issues, cash flow issues, or issues related to their production or service buildings and equipment. This is not to say, however, that there is no interest in growth and expansion. For example, only 40% identified that businesses in their communities are relatively content at their present level of operations. This suggests an interest in growth and expansion, but not necessarily the skills or attitudes. It is also important to note that this perception is lower among those in lagging communities. This suggests that the business community in lagging communities recognizes the need for growth and expansion. Finally, there is confirmation of this lack of skill and knowledge for expansion. Only one-third of the respondents indicated that business people in their communities knew how to take the next steps required to grow. The general conclusion we draw from these findings is that there are significant limitations to business growth and expansion as a revitalization strategy in rural communities.

Agree or strongly agree that:	Total % (n=49)	Leading % (n=20)	Lagging % (n=29)
Businesses I know face significant challenges to expand their sales in markets more than 50km away from their production site.	49	45	52
Businesses I know have trouble getting enough financing from banks.	43	45	41
Businesses I know have few problems expanding to meet increased demand and opportunity.	29	25	31
Businesses I know are relatively content at their present level of operations.	39	55	28
Of the businesses I know that want to grow, most know how to take the next steps needed to grow.	35	40	31

Table 14 Businesses' Perception of Business Expansion Attitudes in their Community

4.4 Small Business Access to and Use of Technology

Almost one-quarter (22%) of businesses identify that information is not available to them about implementing new technologies to assist them in business development; however, almost half (46%) felt that information was available or very available. There are no differences between those located in leading or lagging communities on this issue. A similar pattern of responses were found among those in the export business.

The rural businesses involved in this study are not using the Internet for the purpose of completing business transactions. Almost half of the businesses, however, have the capacity for customers to interact with them via their website, through downloading of product or service information, or by permitting direct E-mail to the business. (Table 15) Another 45% have a basic web page used mostly for advertising their product or service. Very few businesses have plans to move into higher levels of e-commerce activity, namely the completion of transactions on-line. There are no differences between businesses in leading or lagging communities.

	% Using this (n=56)	% Planning to use this in near future
Interaction: customers download information, send e-mail	47	11
Information: basic web page, used mostly for advertising	45	11
Advertising: do not have web site, advertise on other web sites	23	11
Integration of business processes: have a database-driven website	7	4
E-commerce: customers pay for product or service on line	4	4

Table 15 Rural Business Use of the Internet for Business Activities

Businesses were asked to rate the relative importance of adopting new technologies for their business, as it relates to a number of key operational areas. Table 16 summarizes the results by showing the mean score on a 5-point scale. Mean scores closer to 1 indicate that adopting new technology for the stated purpose is relatively more important. Adoption of new technologies is most important for developing new products and services, for retaining existing markets or customers, to keep up with or stay ahead of the competition, and for developing both new markets and new processes. These are also the top five for businesses in both leading and lagging communities, with some slight variation in order.

The mean scores are marginally lower among those in lagging communities on almost all issues (except for the purposes of developing new products and services, and developing new markets) which indicates that businesses in lagging communities place slightly greater emphasis on technology. It is not clear whether or not this is a result of using technology to "level the playing" with businesses in leading communities, or if they are slightly more innovative and entrepreneurial in its use. On the other hand, the evidence mildly suggests that businesses in leading communities are more aggressive in using technology for key aspects of their business related to growth expansion: for developing new products or services; and for developing new markets. The importance placed on technology by those in lagging communities is mostly for operational elements.

Mean Score (1=very important, 5=not important)	Total	Leading	Lagging
to develop new products/services (n=33)	1.7	1.6	1.8
to retain your existing markets/customers (n=39)	1.8	1.9	1.7
to keep up with or stay ahead of competitors (n=38)	1.9	2.2	1.7
to develop new markets (n=38)	2	1.9	2.1
to develop new processes (n=32)	2	2.3	1.8
to develop more expertise (n=38)	2.2	2.4	2.1
to use new equipment (n=39)	2.5	2.9	2.1
to address your training needs (n=35)	2.8	3.1	2.5
to retain your existing suppliers (n=32)	2.8	2.9	2.7
to recruit new employees (n=28)	3.1	3.2	2.9
to develop new suppliers (n=33)	3.2	3.6	2.8

Table 16 Relative Importance for Businesses of Adopting New Technologies

4.5 Issues Related to the Location of Small Businesses in Rural Communities

Why are businesses located in rural communities? There are many potential reasons why small businesses are located in their rural communities. The leading factor, and consistent in both leading and lagging communities, is the preference for a rural environment or lifestyle. (Table 17) The second factor is that the owner either grew up in the area, or has strong ties to the area. This is the case for two-thirds of the businesses in lagging communities and only half of those in leading communities. The third most important factor is the preference for a clean environment, but this was a more important factor among those from leading communities than from lagging communities. Other factors which were more important to businesses in leading communities include the presence of good employees and the fact that the local government is business-friendly. The fact that there is good support from local groups is a more important factor among businesses in lagging communities. While it is clear that "amenity" related factors are the most frequently cited, it is less clear what the specific amenities are that lead people to choose a rural business location, or the extent to which the location is freely chosen or chosen by default due to a lack of choice or mobility.

	Total % (n=53)	Leading % (n=22)	Lagging % (n=31)	
rural environment, lifestyle	64	64	65	
grew up here, have strong ties	60	50	67	
clean environment	49	59	42	
good employees	32	41	26	
municipal government is business-friendly	25	32	_	
good support from local groups	-	-	23	

In terms of particular advantages offered by a rural location, almost one-quarter identified that there were no particular advantages to being in a rural community. There were no differences in the types of advantages identified by respondents from leading and lagging communities, with "the community setting or rural lifestyle" and lower operating costs (including lower taxes) being the two most frequently cited advantages.

In terms of particular disadvantages offered by a rural location, 87% identified that there were particular disadvantages to being in a rural community. Labour force problems (such as losing workers to other employers) and being too closer to competitive markets in nearby larger centres, were most frequently cited by businesses in leading communities as being disadvantages. Having a very small local market with little opportunity for market share increase, and the lengthy distance to larger markets for goods and services, were most frequently cited by businesses in lagging communities as being disadvantages.

Of the 38 businesses reporting that they had applied for a business loan, 12 (32%) indicated that they had been turned down for a business loan at some point. However, 10 of the 25 businesses in lagging communities (40%), compared to only 2 of the 13 businesses in leading communities (15%), had been turned down for a business loan. The associative Phi statistic of -0.25123 suggests a reasonable (but statistically insignificant) association between being turned down for a business loan and being located in a lagging community. The three most common reasons cited for having the loan turned down were: the ability to service the new debt was questioned (6); the proposal was considered too risky (6); and the location of the business in a rural area or small town (5).

Table 18 shows that fewer than one-third of the businesses feel that regulations restrict their ability to expand. Provincial and federal regulations are cited most frequently, and these pose more of a problem for businesses in lagging communities. Local regulations affect fewer businesses, and those of the World Trade Organization have almost no negative impact whatsoever. This is likely related to the relatively stronger focus on local markets of the

businesses in this sample, and that only one-third of them actually have an export component to their business operation.

% agree that regulations hamper or significantly hamper expansion:	Total	Leading	Lagging
Local government (n=51)	18	22	15
Provincial government (n=50)	30	22	34
Federal government (n=50)	24	11	31
World Trade Organization (n=48)	4	0	3

When businesses were asked how government could better assist them in their activities, a wide range of responses were garnered. At the municipal level, 56% identified that something could be done; in 55% of these cases, the most pressing need was for lower municipal taxes, while another 19% felt that municipal government needed to provide more and better services in the community. At the provincial level, 87% identified that something could be done; in 38% of these cases there was a call for lower taxes, while 23% others identified the need for improved programs (or changes to existing programs) to better serve the business community. Many more of the businesses in lagging communities identified that improved or new programs were needed. At the federal level, 81% identified that something could be done; in 36% of these cases, the most pressing need was for lower federal taxes, while 17% identified the need for improved programs (or changes to existing programs) to better serve the business community, and 15% identified the need to reduce red tape and bureaucracy.

All businesses face challenges of one sort or another at different stages of their development. Tables 19A, 19B, and 19C examine the top five challenges faced during startup, first year of operations, and currently. The five startup challenges cited most frequently by rural businesses relate to startup money for buildings and equipment and for week-to-week operations prior to opening, labour problems, building awareness that they are about to open, and lack of support from local government and agencies. However, fewer than 50% cited the first two problems, and only 25% cited the last three as problems. The problem of building an awareness that the business is about to open (Phi statistic -0.33 and statistically significant), and lack of money for week-to-week operations seems to be more associated with businesses in lagging communities (Phi statistic -0.23). In fact 38% of the businesses in lagging communities identified that building awareness that they were about to open was a challenge. It is not clear, however, why this is the case. Only 2 of these businesses in lagging communities have an export function, and only 2 of them are involved in processing or manufacturing. Further information is needed to determine the types of support that these businesses might have benefitted from to avoid this situation.

	Total %	Leading & Lagging	
	(n=42)	Phi	Significance
Lack of money for buildings and equipment	45	-0.1	0.52
Lack of money for week-to-week operations	31	-0.23	0.14
Labour/employee problems	26	-0.056	0.72
Building awareness that the business will open	24	-0.33	0.04
Lack support from local government/agencies	24	-0.2	0.2

Table 19A Top Five Challenges When Starting The Business

There are a greater percentage of rural businesses which identify first year challenges compared to startup challenges. Those most frequently cited have a negative (but insignificant) Phi statistic, indicating a weak association with a lagging community status. (Table 19B) The first year challenges are much the same as startup challenges, but with approximately one in four businesses identifying a lack of money to adopt new technologies and lack of money for marketing as problems. Labour problems are not one of the top five first year challenges.

	Total % (n=44)	Leading & La	gging
		Phi	Significance
Lack of money for buildings and equipment	46	-0.19	0.2
Lack of money for week-to-week operations	39	-0.07	0.65
Building awareness that the business is open	33	-0.15	0.32
Lack of money to adopt new technologies	28	-0.04	0.78
Lack of money for marketing	21	-0.14	0.37
Lack support from local government/agencies	21	-0.01	0.95

Table 19B Top Five Challenges During First Year in Business

The most important current challenges for small businesses in rural communities are much different than those described above. More than 40% of respondents identified business taxes being too high and increasing competition as problems. (Table 19C) The Phi statistic for this latter point is -0.25, indicating a relationship with a lagging status for the community. There could some element of "copycat" businesses opening in small markets, resulting in increasing competition and narrower profit margins for all. Also, a full 50% of businesses from lagging communities noted that high business taxes were a problem for them. The lack of money for adopting new technologies is also highly related to a lagging status for the community.

	Total % (n=48)	Leading & Lagging	
		Phi	Significance
Provincial/federal business taxes too high	46	-0.1	0.5
Increasing competition	40	-0.25	0.08
Lack of money to adopt new technologies	38	-0.24	0.11
Lack of money for marketing	38	0.03	0.84
Lack of money for buildings and equipment	35	-0.01	0.96
Lack support from local government / agencies	35	0.08	0.57

Table 19C Top Five Current Business Challenges

Looking at the two largest business segments in our sample, the hospitality sector and the manufacturing sector, we note some important differences. Among those in the hospitality sector, the most common challenges are business taxes being too high (for 67% of them), lack of money for money for buildings and equipment (60%), local taxes being too high (50%), and employee problems (40%). Among those in the manufacturing sector, the most common challenges are business (for 46% of them), lack of information on markets (46%), and business taxes being too high (46%).

A common thread through all three business phases is lack of money or capital. In small market economies there can be tremendous problems. For example, technology is usually financed from the profits of the business, or on loans based on the potential future returns. However, in small markets it becomes difficult to capture a large enough economic return to permit this. But when businesses switch to larger markets or an export focus, this sometimes clashes with their lifestyle choice to be in small community, or their general nature to be risk adverse. Thus in some cases the lack of money is the result of business philosophies and of personal lifestyle choices.

We queried rural businesses about labour force problems. Almost two-thirds identified that high payroll taxes were a problem. (Table 20) This issue is a challenging one. On the one hand, payroll taxes are a necessary and important for covering the social costs of employment. Employees expect to be paid a fair wage with reasonable benefits. On the other hand, perhaps the amount required of employers is too high. Anecdotal evidence suggests that some rural business owners do not acknowledge these social costs as part of doing business in a rural community. This may be tied to traditional rural views on independence and self-reliance. More investigation might be needed to explore the exact nature of payroll taxation and its direct or indirect impact on businesses in rural communities.

About half identified that hiring skilled and competent people, the attitude of youth towards work, and the expense of the current EI system as being problematic. Access to training programs was also cited as a problem by 42% of businesses. There is not much difference between

businesses in leading and lagging communities on these issues, although the Phi statistics suggest a weak but statistically insignificant relationship with a leading status for attitude of youth towards work and for the expensiveness of the EI system.

	Total (n=48)	Leading & Lagging	
		Phi	Significance
Level of payroll taxes	64	0.1	0.78
Hiring skilled and competent people	52	0.1	0.79
Attitude of youth to work	52	0.19	0.43
Current EI system too expensive for employers	50	0.15	0.6
Access to training programs	42	0.09	0.84

Table 20 Top Five Labour Force Issues for Rural Businesses

What is the business climate in rural Canada today? Very few businesses feel that the business climate is healthy. Only slightly more than one-quarter of the businesses feel that the there is a positive business attitude in their communities today, and an equal percent agree that the attitude today is more positive than it was ten years ago. While the perception among businesses in leading communities is much higher than among those in lagging communities, there are still relatively few businesses in agreement. (Table 21) This suggests that the rural economy in general, and especially that in lagging communities, is not healthy or stable, and that there likely has not been a strong a recovery from the recession of the early 1990s.

Table 21 Perception of Businesses about Business Climate in Rural Communities

Percent of businesses which feel the business attitude is positive or very positive:	Total	Leading	Lagging
in the community today (n=55)	27	39	19
today compared to 10 years ago (n=50)	26	32	23

The capacity to sell one's business (at a price reasonably close to what would be desired) could also be considered a measure of the business climate in the community. Only one-quarter of the businesses felt that they could sell their business to someone else in the community (22% in leading communities and 28% in lagging communities), while a full 50% felt that this was not possible (61% in leading communities and 44% in lagging communities). An additional 12% did not know. These findings again suggest that economic circumstances in rural communities are not healthy.

On a related note, slightly more than half (53%) of the respondents indicated that they would encourage a young person starting out to get into their line of business today. This was the case for 45% of those in leading communities and 58% of those in lagging communities. There are important differences across sectors of activity here; only 8/15 manufacturers and 2/7 retailers would encourage a young person to get into their line of business. This might be because they either recognize some limitations facing their sector, or they are harbouring concerns about increased competition within their sector. On the other hand, 8/11 of those in the accommodation or hospitality industry, and 4/6 of those in construction, stated they would encourage a young person to get into their line of business might be potential growth sectors in rural communities.

What are the characteristics of success in rural businesses? The two most important contributions to the success of a business in rural places are its good reputation, and that it offers high quality products and services. This is true for businesses in both leading and lagging communities. (Table 22) Competitive pricing, loyal customers, and support of the local people are more important for businesses in lagging communities, while having skilled workers and offering a small range of high quality products and services are more important to success for businesses in leading communities. The issue of customer loyalty being important for businesses in lagging communities is supported by the results in Table 11A discussed earlier. It was noted that businesses in lagging communities were much more likely to identify themselves as leaders in enhancing customer relations. Furthermore, maintaining customer loyalty in lagging communities where market expansion is limited is extremely important. For example, if customers are not happy with businesses in their community, and have the means and opportunity to shop elsewhere, they will do so. Developing customer loyalty (by a variety of means) then becomes important to prevent economic leakage from the community.

	Total % (n=47)	Leading % (n=22)	Lagging % (n=25)
have a good reputation	85	82	92
products/services are high quality	75	77	76
prices are competitive	58	45	72
customers are loyal	44	32	56
operating costs are relatively low	33	41	-
offer a few products / services, but they are of the highest quality	-	32	-
have skilled workers	-	32	-
local people support the business	_	-	40

Table 22 Five Most Important Factors Contributing to Individual Business Success

4.6 Small Business Use of Networks and Information

Networks and networking have been identified as important elements in the success of small businesses. These can take on many forms. At one end there are networks developed through personal interaction, either within the community or within sectors. At the other end are networks built through the use of a variety of technologies, which permit contact on an ongoing basis. In some cases rural communities may be isolated which makes face-to-face networking within sectors more challenging, or limits the frequency of contact. In these cases there is a potential role for technology to facilitate networking.

A total of 58% of surveyed businesses belong to a network of some sort, with slightly more of those in lagging communities (59%) than those in leading communities (55%) belonging to a network. All businesses report that the networks are important to the success of their businesses. However, fewer than 20% of all businesses belong to some type of formal "alliance" for the purpose of conducting some form of business transaction or pooling of resources. The most common include research and development (21%) and manufacturing (20%). There is some interest in participating in some types of alliances among those not already involved in such arrangements, including: manufacturing (61%); sales (58%); research and development (54%); training (52%); and licensing (52%).

About 44% of surveyed businesses use some form of regular face-to-face networking with businesses in the same sector in other communities, and the Phi statistic of -0.17 suggests that this is slightly more prominent (but statistically insignificant) among those in lagging communities. About one-third network with other businesses within their communities, and this is somewhat more associated with businesses in leading communities. (Table 23A) Only one-quarter use the Internet for networking with other businesses. Those in the export business are much more likely (46%) to use the Internet for networking purposes.

	Total %	Leading & Lagging	
	(n=50)	Phi	Significance
regular face-to-face networking with businesses in same sector in other communities	44	-0.17	0.23
regular face-to-face networking with other businesses in the community	34	0.2	0.16
using the Internet to network with other businesses	26	0.11	0.45
using other communication technology to network with businesses in other communities	16	-0.074	0.6

There is a great deal of interest by more than half of the businesses in developing networking opportunities through the Internet and through regular face-to-face contact with others in the same sector. (Table 23B) Businesses in lagging communities were more likely to express an interest in these opportunities. Half of the businesses in lagging communities identified an interest in developing regular face-to-face networking with other businesses within their own community. This is likely a reflection of the lack of present opportunities or formal structures such as a local Chamber of Commerce. These are more prevalent among leading communities. About one-third also expressed interest in using live chats on the Internet or other forms of technology for networking purposes. These findings suggest an opportunity for policy makers and program delivery agencies to facilitate greater Internet use among businesses, and to facilitate inter-community exchanges for businesses in similar sectors.

% Interested or very interested in:	Total %	Leading %	Lagging %
regular face-to-face networking with businesses in same sector in other communities (n=26)	54	44	70
regular face-to-face networking with other businesses in the community (n=31)	29	6	50
using the Internet to network with other businesses (n=34)	59	55	63
using the Internet for "live chats" with other businesses on a regularly scheduled basis (n=43)	33	41	33
using other communication technology to network with businesses in other communities (n=35)	31	25	40

Table 23B Interest in Types Of Networking Opportunities Among Businesses

In looking at the range of information sources businesses use for making important decisions, for advice and guidance, for general business information, and for other types of information, a rank ordering of the type five sources for each shows some clear patterns. The more important the decision or information required, the greater the likelihood of going to a source from within the business, while the net is cast more widely for more general information. (Table 24) With respect to important decisions, senior management and employees are the most important. Accountants, family members, and suppliers are also important.

For advice and guidance, accountants, employees, suppliers and family are again important, but customers and lawyers also enter the picture. Competitors and colleagues, along with family, are the most important sources of information for general business issues. This confirms the importance of business networks for business success. When we look at the most importance sources of general information, customers are the most important, followed closely by the media and the Internet. This suggests that "popular press" is extremely important to the small business sector.

In looking at important differences between leading and lagging communities, businesses in lagging communities are much more likely to use suppliers as a source of information for important decisions (but the measure of association is not statistically significant). Although they do not appear in the top five as a source for general advice and guidance, there is a very large and almost statistically significant association between the lagging status of the community and using the government as a source, and using the Internet as a source. In both cases, 90% (9 of 10) who use the government or the Internet are located in lagging communities. In terms of general business issues, all 5 of those who use local agencies (such as a community development corporation) are located in lagging communities, as are 90% of those who use a lawyer. The measures of association are high with this status and almost statistically significant. There are no other important differences among leading and lagging communities within the top five sources of information for important decisions, advice and guidance, general business issues, or general information.

	To make important decisions	To obtain advice and guidance	To discuss general business issues	To collect information
management	1			
employees	2	2	5	
accountant	3	1	4	
family	4	4	1	
suppliers	5	2		4
customers		5		1
lawyer		5		
competitor			1	5
colleagues			1	
media				2
Internet				3
sector publication				5

Table 24 Rank Order of Most Important Sources of Information for Managing the Business

Fewer than one-third of the businesses participate in local, regional, or provincial trade shows, and even fewer participate in national or international trade shows. (Table 25) This is not surprising given the large number of service-related businesses in the sample. Most of the processors / manufacturers participate in trade shows. Businesses from lagging communities, where more of the businesses from this sector in this sample are located, participate in regional,

provincial, and national trade shows. A full 50% of those in the export business participate in international trade shows.

	Total (%)	Leading (%)	Lagging (%)
Local (n=49)	29	30	28
Regional (n=48)	29	25	32
Provincial (n=48)	29	20	36
National (n=47)	13	5	18
International (n=47)	19	20	18

Table 25 Business Participation in Trade Shows

5.0 The Role of Cooperatives in Community Economic Development

5.1 Cooperatives' Contributions to Rural Communities

What types of leadership roles do cooperatives play in rural communities? A total of 15 (58%) managers belong to some volunteer group as a member (40% of those in leading communities, and 69% in lagging communities). The measure of association is -0.28 (and is also statistically insignificant), indicating that there is some relationship between participation as a member and the lagging status of a community. A larger sample size would help to confirm this. The most common groups that cooperative managers are members of relate to sports (28%), environment (12%), and religion (16%). (Table 26)

A total of 11 (42%) managers belong to some volunteer group as a leader (40% of those in leading communities, and 44% of those in lagging communities. The associative Phi measure is -0.04 (but it is also statistically insignificant), indicating that there are no differences between the two types of communities. The most common groups where they play leadership roles are related to sports (20%) and religion (16%).

A total of 16 (64%) board members belong to some volunteer group as a member (55% of those in leading communities, and 71% in lagging communities). The measure of association, Phi, is -0.17 (and is also statistically insignificant), indicating that there is a slight relationship between belonging to a volunteer group and the lagging status of a community. The most common groups that cooperative board members are members of relate to sports (24%), religion (20%), public benefit (20%) and arts/culture (16%).

A total of 14 (56%) board members belong to some volunteer group as a leader (55% of those in leading communities, and 57% of those in lagging communities. The most common groups where they play leadership roles are related to sports (20%), religion (20%), and public benefit (16%).

Organization Type	Managers (n=26)		Board Members	s (n=25)
	% member	% leader	% member	% leader
Sports & recreation	28	24	24	20
Religious organizations	16	16	20	20
Environment & Wildlife	12	0	8	12
Arts & Culture	8	0	16	4
Health	8	0	4	4
Society & public benefit	4	8	20	16
Employment & economic interests	4	4	12	12
Education and youth development	4	8	12	8
Social services	4	4	8	0
Multidomain	4	0	0	4
Law & Justice	4	0	0	0
Other	8	4	12	12

Table 26 Cooperative Participation in Community Organizations

Cooperative managers volunteer on average 12.8 hours per month in their communities, with the average being 10.8 hours per month in leading communities and 14.1 hours in lagging communities. Among cooperative board members the contributions are marginal larger with the average being 14.2 hours per month. The average among those from leading communities is 16.3 hours per month, and 12.5 hours in lagging communities.

In addition to volunteer time of managers and board members, cooperatives also contribute in other ways. Most of the cooperatives, 30 (91%), contribute financially (in ways other than by paying taxes and providing employment income) to their communities. All cooperatives in leading communities compared to 89% of those in lagging communities contribute financially. Cooperatives most commonly give cash or prizes for events (particularly in leading communities), sponsor specific organizations or events (particularly in lagging communities) or give to fundraisers. (Table 27A)

	Total % (n=31)	Leading % (n=13)	Lagging % (n=18)
Cash/prizes for events	45	54	39
Sponsor specific organizations or events	42	23	56
Give to fundraisers	39	38	39
Scholarships	26	30	22
Other	6	15	0

Table 27A Financial Contributions to Community by Cooperatives

Slightly fewer of the cooperatives make non-financial contributions, with 25 (83%) doing so. Almost all (93%) cooperatives in leading communities compared to 82% of those in lagging communities contribute in non-financial ways. (Table 27B) Cooperatives most commonly contribute in non-financial ways through staff participation in charity events, and by making space available in their business for activities. Many others provide co-op work placements for students.

Table 27B Non-Financial Contributions to Community by Cooperatives

	Total % (n=30)	Leading % (n=13)	Lagging % (n=17)
Charity work	33	38	29
Use of space	17	23	12
Donate labour / equipment	6	8	6
Member of group	3	8	0
Other	53	54	53

In a general sense, cooperatives see business contributions to general community activities as important. Managers, particularly those working in leading communities, were much more likely to agree that business persons in their communities get involved in non-business activities. (Table 28) More than half of both the managers and the board members agreed that business people tend to get involved as leaders as well. Furthermore, close to three-quarters of those from both groups held the perception that the general public sees the involvement of business people in community activities and organizations as being a good thing for the community. On all three issues board members from lagging communities were more likely to be in agreement with these issues than both the managers working in lagging communities, and the board members serving in leading communities.

Agree or strongly agree that:		Managers			Board Members			
	Total (n=25)	Lead (n=10)	Lag (n=15)	Total (n=24)	Lead (n=10)	Lag (n=14)		
Business people tend to get involved in non-business, voluntary organizations in this community.	72	80	57	58	50	64		
Business people tend to get involved as leaders in non-business activities or events.	60	60	60	63	50	73		
When business people get involved as leaders in non-business activities or events, other people in the community see this as a good thing.	72	80	68	74	67	79		

Table 28 Cooperatives	' Perceptions	of Business	Involvement in	Community
1 4010 20 000peratives	1 creeptions	or Dubiness	mi voi veimente m	Commanney

5.2 Cooperatives and the Informality of Rural Community Life

From the point of view of cooperatives, to what extent do small businesses benefit from or contribute to the "informality" of rural life as it is directly related to business development?

Many of those in the cooperative sector identify a general lack of support in the community for people starting a business. About one-quarter of managers and one-third of board members felt that people would have trouble getting money from sources other than banks, especially in lagging communities. (Table 29) This might be linked to potentially more difficult market conditions in these types of communities. However, about half of the managers and one-third of board members felt that there was financial help from the local community could be obtained, especially in leading communities. Finally about half of the respondents in each group felt that when someone wants to start a business they are generally given lots of encouragement and support from the local community. However, more of the managers in leading communities and more of the board members in lagging communities felt that this was the case. On this last point, it does suggest that there might be a degree of social cohesion and community togetherness when it comes to supporting others wanting to succeed in business.

Agree or strongly agree that:	Managers			Board Members		
	Total (n=25)	Lead (n=10)	Lag (n=15)	Total (n=24)	Lead (n=10)	Lag (n=14)
Businesses I know have trouble getting enough financing from other sources.	28	20	34	33	10	50
When someone wants to start a new business, they are generally given lots of encouragement and support.	44	50	40	50	40	57
When someone wants to start a new business, they are generally able to get some financial help from the local community if they need it.	52	60	48	33	40	29

Table 29 Cooperatives' Perceptions of Community Support for Businesses

In looking at the initiation of cooperative businesses, general citizens are the most common "group" or stakeholder which is involved. (Table 30) In leading communities there is some evidence that a broader range of groups or stakeholders has been involved in cooperative startups compared to those in lagging communities. It is interesting to note that in one-third of the cooperatives in leading communities, local politicians were involved in organizing for startup. We also note that in almost one-quarter of the cooperatives in lagging communities there was some involvement by cooperative organizers from outside the community. The role of general citizens suggests that social capital and social cohesion within those communities was present at that time. The fact that in only a small number of cases did groups from outside the community initiate the cooperative underscores the presence of social capital and demonstrates to a certain extent the capacity within rural communities to self-organize.

	Total % (n=30)	Leading % (n=12)	Lagging % (n=18)
general citizens	73	83	67
local business people	40	50	33
church	21	25	22
local politicians	20	33	11
farm leaders	20	25	17
coop organizers from outside community	17	8	22
regional/national organizations	7	8	6

Table 30 Initiation of Cooperative Businesses

People participate in cooperatives for a variety of reasons. Table 31 outlines the major reasons as identified by each cooperative in the sample, and shows that belief in the system of collective management, and unhappiness with what the private sector offers, are the most compelling reasons for participation. These reasons are even more pronounced in lagging communities. Few participate in cooperatives for the social opportunities or personal development opportunities they provide.

In looking at all of the possible reasons for participation, the percentage of cooperatives which agree that the reason explains participation in their cooperative is higher among those from lagging than from leading communities. This suggests that cooperatives are playing a more significant role in filling gaps where the private sector is unable to provide needed products and services, that there is a stronger desire for local control over business decisions, and that cooperatives are also important for social reasons, in lagging communities. Furthermore, within lagging communities the cooperatives show much more clearly a combination of economic and social elements explaining participation. This may also be evidence to support a hypothesis that the population of lagging communities view themselves as being significantly more vulnerable in an uncertain and fluctuating economy characterized by globalization and predatory practices. They have turned to cooperative development as one means of coping.

Agree or strongly agree: (n=various)	Total %	Leading %	Lagging %
believe collective management is good	68	55	79
because unhappy with private sector	60	46	71
for the products and services	44	36	50
to participate in management	32	18	50
for social opportunities	19	9	25
for personal development	16	0	29

5.3 Entrepreneurship Among Cooperatives in Rural Communities

Are rural cooperatives "entrepreneurial" in nature? In a general sense managers were much more likely to agree positively with statements about the degree of entrepreneurship within their businesses than were the board members. For example, more than half of the managers indicated that their cooperative was always or usually a leader in their field in a number of key business elements, particularly related to technology, market development, human resources, and pricing. It is only in relation to customer relations and human resources where more than half of the board members indicated that their cooperatives were always or usually a leader. There is a large difference of opinion between managers and board members on the issue of being a leader in pricing, with managers being much more positive.

The responses to being a leader in the fields of human resources training, enhancing customer relations, and changing pricing, shows some important differences of opinion in relation to community status. Many more of the managers in lagging communities, and many more of the board members in leading communities, felt that their cooperatives were leaders in these areas. (Table 32A) On the one hand, managers in lagging communities may see these efforts as innovative and creative leadership approaches to staying competitive. On the other, board members may see these as merely necessary business actions to stay competitive.

Agree or strongly agree that the business is	Managers			Board Members		
almost always or usually a leader in: (n=various)	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %
Adopting new technologies	59	58	64	48	33	59
Developing/marketing new products/services	57	57	57	43	44	43
Human resource training	55	38	64	57	77	44
Changing Pricing	52	44	57	33	50	23
Purchasing practices	46	25	57	33	56	17
Enhancing customer relations	44	22	59	61	89	43
Targeting new markets	41	25	50	30	25	33

Table 32A Cooperatives' Perceptions of their Leadership in the Marketplace

There are few differences between the assessments of managers and board members of their cooperatives' entrepreneurial spirit. However, they collectively report very low levels of agreement that their cooperatives are entrepreneurial in nature. These response rates are also low compared to those of individual small business owners. (Table 32B) The conclusion that we draw from this evidence is that cooperatives in rural communities are generally risk adverse (only one-third are risk-takers). This poses serious limitations for cooperative business expansion in rural communities, particularly as a tool for rural revitalization.

Within the responses, however, there are some differences worth noting. we note that managers were much more likely to agree that their cooperatives were creative. Furthermore, managers working in lagging communities were much more likely to agree that their cooperatives were creative, innovative, take challenges, and take calculated risks. Managers of financial cooperatives appear to be somewhat more entrepreneurial in nature. For example, 86% felt that their cooperative was creative, 56% felt that it took calculated risks, 42% felt that they like to take on challenges. However, relatively fewer of the board members serving this type of cooperative felt that theirs was entrepreneurial in nature.

Agree or strongly agree that:	Managers (n=25)			Board Members (n=24)		
	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %
We are creative (do things a bit differently)	56	40	58	32	36	29
We are innovative (try new ideas)	40	30	47	44	36	50
When someone says "it can't be done", we take it as a challenge	32	20	40	38	40	37
We take calculated risks	32	20	40	33	40	29

Table 32B Cooperatives'	Perceptions of their	r Entrepreneurial Spirit

To what extent do cooperatives perceive that their communities are entrepreneurial in nature? A total of 46% of managers (40% of those from leading communities compared with 50% of those from lagging communities) felt their communities were entrepreneurial or very entrepreneurial. A total of 46% of board members (45% of those from leading communities compared with 46% of those from lagging communities) felt their communities were entrepreneurial or very entrepreneurial. Thus we see there are no differences of opinion between groups or community types.

Investing in the cooperative on an ongoing basis is also an important element of entrepreneurship and sound business management. In the past three years, 88% of rural cooperatives have purchased new computer equipment, 59% have purchased new production or service equipment, and 53% have renovated or expanded existing buildings. (Table 33A) There are no strong differences between those in leading and lagging communities based on the Phi statistic.

	Total % (n=32)	Leading & Lagging		
	(Phi	Significance	
purchased new computer equipment	88	-0.05	0.79	
purchased new production/service equipment	59	-0.17	0.34	
renovated or expanded existing buildings	53	0.07	0.69	
installed new information management systems	31	-0.19	0.29	
purchased or built new buildings	22	-0.01	0.96	

Table 33A Types of Capital Investments in Last Three Years by Cooperatives

The most common purposes for investments are to improve customer services, to modernize equipment, and to modernize buildings and workspaces. (Table 33B) There are no important differences between community types, but the associative Phi statistic shows some tendency (but statistically insignificant) towards a lagging status of the community and making the investments to increase the volume of products and services.

	Total %	Leading & Lagging		
	(n=32)	Phi	Significance	
to improve customer service	84	-0.14	0.43	
to modernize equipment	75	-0.07	0.68	
to modernize buildings/workspace	63	0.16	0.36	
to improve the quality of product/service	50	0	1	
to increase the volume of products/services	47	-0.2	0.26	
to offer new products/services	31	0.08	0.63	
to work with new markets or customers	22	-0.16	0.36	
to change production/service patterns	19	-0.1	0.57	

Table 33B Purpose of Recent Capital Investments by Cooperatives

Business growth and expansion is also seen as an important element of overall community wellbeing. The skills and attitudes within business sector associated with growth and expansion are also those which are helpful and transferable to larger community processes. Table (34) identifies the perceptions of cooperative managers and board members in our sample about these skills and attitudes within their communities. Two-thirds of the managers and more than half of the board members feel that businesses generally face significant challenges to expand their sales in markets beyond the immediate community. Many more of the board members in leading communities felt that this was the case, compared to those in lagging communities. On a related noted, almost half (43%) of the managers and 38% of the board members felt that businesses in their community have trouble getting enough financing from banks. For both groups this perception was held more frequently among those in lagging communities.

There is also a perception that businesses in rural communities do not have the skills or attitudes required for expansion. One-third of the managers and more than half of the board members felt that businesses in their community had few problems expanding to meet demand and opportunity. There could be other underlying factors here, including labour force issues, cash flow issues, or issues related to their production or service buildings and equipment. This is not to say, however, that there is no interest in growth and expansion. For example, only 44% of the

managers and one-quarter of the board members identified that businesses in their communities are relatively content at their present level of operations. This suggests an interest in growth and expansion, but not necessarily the skills or attitudes. We note that this perception is lower among board members in lagging communities. This suggests that the business community in lagging communities recognizes the need for growth and expansion. Finally, there is confirmation of this lack of skill and knowledge for expansion. Only about one-third of both managers and board members indicated that business people in their communities knew how to take the next steps required to grow. The general conclusion we draw from these findings is that there are significant limitations to business growth and expansion as a revitalization strategy in rural communities.

Agree or strongly agree that:	Managers (n=25)		Board Members (n=24)			
	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %
Businesses I know face significant challenges to expand their sales in markets more than 50km away from their production site.	64	70	60	54	70	43
Businesses I know have trouble getting enough financing from banks.	44	10	67	38	20	50
Businesses I know have few problems expanding to meet increased demand and opportunity.		30	33	54	60	50
Businesses I know are relatively content at their present level of operations.		40	47	25	40	14
Of the businesses I know that want to grow, most know how to take the next steps needed to grow.	33	30	36	29	30	29

Table 34 Cooperatives' Perceptions of Business Expansion Attitudes in their Community

5.4 Cooperatives Access to and Use of Technology

Almost one-quarter (23%) of cooperatives identify that information is not available to them about implementing new technologies to assist their cooperatives in development. There are no differences between those located in leading or lagging communities on this issue.

Some rural cooperatives are using the Internet for a variety of purposes. More than half have the capacity for customers to interact with them via their website, through downloading of product or service information, or by permitting direct E-mail to the business. (Table 35) About one-third have a basic web page used mostly for advertising, and about one-quarter have the ability to complete transactions on-line. There are no important differences between cooperatives in

leading and lagging communities in their use of the Internet for business purposes. A small number have plans to introduce e-commerce transactions in the near future.

	% Using this (n=30)	% Planning to use this in near future
Interaction: customers download information, send e-mail	53	7
Information: basic web page, used mostly for advertising	37	16
E-commerce: customers pay for product or service on line	23	17
Integration of business processes: have a database-driven website	13	12
Advertising: do not have web site, advertise on other web sites	10	0

Table 35 Cooperatives' Use of the Internet for Business Activities

Cooperatives were asked to rate the relative importance of adopting new technologies for their business, as it relates to a number of key operational areas. Table 36 summarizes the results by showing the mean score on a 5-point scale. Mean scores closer to 1 indicate that adopting new technology for the stated purpose are relatively more important. Adoption of new technologies is most important for retaining existing markets or customers, and this is the case for cooperatives in both leading and lagging communities. Among those in leading communities, adopting new technology is relatively more important for keeping up with or staying ahead of competitors, supporting members, recruiting new members, developing new processes, and developing new products and services. Among those in lagging communities, adopting new technology is more important for developing new markets, for keeping up with or staying ahead of competitors, supporting members, developing new products and services, and developing more expertise. The mean scores are lower among those in lagging communities on almost all issue (except for the purposes of recruiting new members and developing new processes), which indicates that cooperatives in lagging communities are either more dependent upon technology to "level the playing" or they are forced to be more innovative and entrepreneurial in its use to compensate for approaches to addressing their various needs.

Mean Score (1=very important, 5=not important)	Total	Leading	Lagging
to retain your existing markets/customers (n=29)	1.3	1.6	1.1
to keep up with or stay ahead of competitors (n=28)	1.7	1.8	1.7
to support your members (n=29)	1.8	1.9	1.8
to develop new products/services (n=28)	1.9	2.1	1.8
to develop new markets (n=26)	2	2.4	1.6
to recruit new members (n=29)	2.1	2	2.1
to develop new processes (n=26)	2.1	2	2.2
to develop more expertise (n=28)	2.1	2.5	1.9
to address your training needs (n=27)	2.2	2.4	2
to use new equipment (n=28)	2.4	2.6	2.2
to retain your existing suppliers (n=27)	2.5	2.7	2.4
to develop new suppliers (n=26)	2.8	3.5	2.3
to recruit new employees (n=26)	2.9	3	2.8

Table 36 Relative Importance for Cooperatives of Adopting New Technologies

5.5 Issues Related to the Location of Cooperatives in Rural Communities

In terms of particular advantages offered by a rural location, about 15% managers of cooperatives identified that there were no particular advantages to being in a rural community. About onequarter cited loyalty of the population to their operation and less competition as particular advantages. Loyalty was identified as the major advantage in leading communities, and less competition the major advantage in lagging communities.

Almost all cooperative managers (92%) identified that there were disadvantages as a result of a rural location. More than half identified the small local market, while another one-quarter identified the close proximity to larger markets which serves to drain away customers. There were no differences between cooperatives in the two types of communities.

Only 1 (located in a lagging community) of the 18 cooperatives which had applied for a loan indicated that they had been turned for a business loan at some point. No specific reason for being turned was given.

Relatively few cooperatives identify that they are affected by the various regulatory environments. Fewer than one-quarter of managers and board members, all in leading

communities, identify that federal government regulations restrict their ability to expand their operations. (Table 37) Almost 40% of managers and board members identify that this is the case with provincial government regulations. Cooperatives are governed by provincial cooperative acts, and since they may also be affected by general provincial policies which have moved in the direction to favour private market developments. There may be some scope here for more work to identify the specific regulations which hamper cooperatives, and what role, if any, the Cooperative Secretariat might have in helping to addressing them. None of the managers, and 22% of the board members (all from lagging communities) identified local regulations as a problem.

Agree that regulations hamper or significantly hamper ability to expand:	Managers (n=23)			Board Members (n=23)		
	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %
Local government	0	0	0	22	0	36
Provincial government	39	44	37	39	20	39
Federal government	17	44	0	22	50	0
World Trade Organization	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 37 Regulatory Impacts on Ability for Cooperative Business Expansion

When cooperatives were asked how government could better assist them in their activities, a narrow range of responses were garnered. At the municipal level, 26% identified that something could be done; and in half of these cases, the most pressing need was for lower municipal taxes. At the provincial level, 76% identified that something could be done; in one-third of these cases there was a call for lower taxes, while others identified the need for a reduction in red tape or the enhancement of programs to support cooperatives (18% each). At the federal level, 50% identified that something could be done; and in half of these cases, the most pressing need was for lower federal taxes.

All cooperatives face challenges of one sort or another at different stages of their development. Tables 38A, 38B, and 38C examine the top five challenges faced during startup, first year of operations, and currently. Given the older age of the cooperatives, most of the current managers and board members were not involved during the startup and first year operations, and thus we have fewer responses in total for these two items.

The startup challenges cited most frequently by both managers and board members of rural cooperatives relates to startup money for buildings and equipment. Managers also identified week-to-week cash flow, building awareness that the cooperative will open, and lack of money for technology and for research and development. Board members identified lack of money for research and development as the number one challenge in starting a cooperative; they also identified lack of information on markets and lack of government support as challenges during

this phase. (Table 16) There are no statistically significant differences between results for leading and lagging communities; however, there is a strong association with a lagging community status and both lack of money for buildings and equipment, and lack of money for research and development, as reported by managers, and building awareness that the cooperative will open, as reported by board members. This suggests an opportunity for government support, and the need for greater community investment.

	Ма	nagers (n=	12)	Board Members (n=15)		
	Total	Leading &	& Lagging	Total	Leading & Lagging	
	%	Phi	Signif	%	Phi	Signif
Lack of money for buildings and equipment	42	-0.37	0.2	33	0.09	0.71
Lack of money for week-to-week operations	42	-0.03	0.92	20	0.13	0.6
Building awareness that the cooperative will open	33	-0.24	0.41	27	-0.34	0.18
Lack of money for technology	25	-0.1	0.74	-	-	-
Lack of research and development	25	-0.49	0.09	40	-0.33	0.2
Lack of information on markets	_	-	-	27	-0.34	0.18
Lack of support form government	_	_	_	20	-0.2	0.44

Table 38A Top Five Challenges When Starting the Cooperative

Managers and board members identified the same challenges during the first year of operations. In particular the most problematic related to lack of money for buildings and equipment, lack of money for week-to-week operations, and building awareness that the cooperative is open. In particular this point is statistically significant in association with the lagging status of a community, as reported by board members, and there is a high measure of association as reported by managers. (Table 38B) The poor quality of products and services is also strongly associated with a lagging community stats (but statistically not significant), as reported by managers. These findings suggest that in lagging communities cooperatives struggle with developing market share, financing, and product development.

	Ма	nagers (n=	13)	Board Members (n=16)			
	Total	Leading &	Leading & Lagging		Leading &	& Lagging	
	%	Phi	Signif	%	Phi	Signif	
Lack of money for buildings and equipment	46	0.22	0.43	19	0.16	0.52	
Lack of money for week-to-week operations	46	-0.1	0.72	25	0	1	
Building awareness that the cooperative is open	46	-0.41	0.13	19	-0.48	0.05	
Lack of money for technology	31	0.16	0.57	19	0.16	0.52	
Lack of research and development	23	-0.06	0.84	25	0.29	0.25	
Poor quality product / service	23	-0.43	0.12	19	0.16	0.52	

Table 38B Top Five Challenges During First Year in Cooperative Business

The most important current challenges for cooperatives in rural communities are much different. Increasing competition, a declining customer base, and lack of money for technology adoption were identified by both managers and board members. Managers also identified building awareness about the cooperative and being in facilities that don't meet their needs, and board members also identified provincial and local taxes as being too high. (Table 38C) There are no important statistically significant differences between cooperatives in the two types of communities, but there is a slight (but statistically insignificant) tendency for a declining customer base to be associated with a lagging status of the community.

	Mar	nagers (n=	20)	Board Members (n=24)				
	Total %	Leading & Lagging				Total %	Lead Lag	•
		Phi	Signif		Phi	Signif		
Increasing competition	60	0.04	0.85	71	0	0.94		
Declining customer base	40	-0.25	0.26	38	-0.16	0.43		
Building awareness that cooperative is open	30	-0.1	0.69	-	-	-		
Lack of money for technology	29	0.16	0.48	29	-0.17	0.4		
Facilities and building don't meet our needs	30	0.1	0.65	-	-	-		
Local taxes too high	-	-	-	29	0.02	0.94		
Provincial taxes too high	-	-	-	38	-0.13	0.52		

Table 38C Top Five Current Cooperative Business Challenges

Board members and manager both identify that hiring skilled and competent people and the lack of professional managers are the two biggest labour force problems for cooperatives. (Table 39) However, while managers feel that access to training, the attitude of youth toward work, and high payroll taxes were additional problems, board members felt that the lack of professional workers, the expense of the EI system, problems with payroll administration, and a good work ethic were also problems. On these last three points, there was a very strong tendency (and almost statistically significant) toward these problems being associated with a lagging status of the community. Access to training programs was strongly associated with (and almost statistically significant) a leading status of the community.

	Ма	nagers (n=	25)	Board Members (n=25)		
	Total %	Leading &	& Lagging	Total %	Leading &	Lagging
		Phi	Signif		Phi	Signif
Hiring skilled and competent people	52	0.13	0.81	36	0.16	0.72
Lack of professional managers	40	0.05	0.97	36	-0.38	0.17
Access to training programs	36	0.41	0.12	-	-	-
Attitude of youth to work	36	0.07	0.93	-	-	-
Level of payroll taxes	36	0.3	0.32	-	-	-
Lack of professional workers	-	-	-	32	-0.33	0.26
Government hassle on payroll administration	-	-	-	28	-0.41	0.12
The current EI system is too expensive for employers	-	-	-	32	-0.45	0.08
Good work ethic	-	-	-	28	-0.46	0.07

Table 39 Top Five Labour Force Issues for Cooperative Businesses

Exploring the challenge around a lack of professional managers a bit deeper, almost 20% (6) of the cooperatives identified that retaining managers is a problem or major problem. Of these, 4 were in lagging communities and 2 were in leading communities. Generally speaking when managers leave they tend to do one of two things: take employment with another cooperative, usually in the same community or region, or they take employment in the private sector in a similar business.

An important element of cooperative development is the ongoing training and development of staff, board, and general membership. Only 4 cooperatives, all in lagging communities, provide training for their general membership. (Table 40) Approximately two-thirds of cooperatives provide training for their board members, with 75% of those from leading communities, and 59%

from lagging communities doing so. Managers and staff receive the most attention on this matter. Three-quarters of cooperatives provide training for managers and two-thirds provide training for staff. More of those in lagging communities were likely to provide training for their managers, with no differences on the issue of staff training.

# of Days of Training (n=various)	Total %	Leading %	Lagging %
Board Members - Average	2.8 days	3.7 days	2.2 days
0	35	25	41
1-2	24	25	24
3-4	10	8	12
5 or more	31	42	24
Managers - Average	9.2 days	7.9 days	10.2 days
0	23	31	18
1-4	30	16	41
5-18	20	31	12
19 or more	27	22	29
Employees - Average	10.6 days	14.3 days	7.9 days
0	32	31	33
1-3	26	31	22
5-10	16	16	17
11 or more	26	22	28
General Membership - Average	0.2 days	0 days	0.4 days
0	87	100	78
1	10	0	17
4	3	0	6

Table 40 Training and Development in Cooperatives

What is the perception within cooperatives of the business climate in rural Canada today? Managers were more positive about the business climate than board members, both in terms of the present climate, and in comparing it ten years ago. However, in all cases, fewer than half were in agreement. Managers in lagging communities were likely to agree on both items compared to their counterparts working in leading communities. However, many more of the board members in leading communities felt that the business climate today was positive, compared to their counterparts in lagging communities. (Table 41) Overall, the evidence describes a rural economy that is not healthy or stable.

Percent which feel the business attitude is positive or very positive:	Managers (n=24)			Board Members (n= 25)		
	Total %	Lead %	Lag %	Total %	Lead %	Lag %
in the community today	42	20	56	32	46	21
today compared to 10 years ago	46	40	53	36	36	36

 Table 41 Perception of Cooperatives about Business Climate in Rural Communities

On a related note, almost two-thirds of the managers (61%) indicated that they would encourage a young person to get involved in a cooperative business like theirs. This was the case for 56% of those in leading communities and 64% of those in lagging communities. Only 3 of the 8 managers working in financial cooperatives would encourage a young person to get involved in this type of cooperative. By comparison, only 52% of the board members indicated that they would encourage a young person to get involved in a cooperative business like theirs. This was the case for 67% of those in leading communities and only 42% of those in lagging communities. Only 3 of the 6 board members involved in a primary sector cooperative, 1 of 6 in the tertiary sector, and 5 out of 8 in the financial sector, would encourage a young person to get involved in their type of cooperative.

What are the characteristics of success in rural cooperatives? Managers and board members both identify that their good reputation and competitive prices are the two most important factors in their success. Among board members these factors seem to be of more importance among those in leading communities. Loyal members are perceived by managers to be important, and board members feel that high quality products and services are important in explaining their success. (Table 42)

	Ма	nagers (n=	25)	Board Members (n= 23)		
	Total %	Lead %	Lag %	Total %	Lead %	Lag %
have a good reputation	60	60	67	65	70	61
prices are competitive	56	60	53	70	80	61
our members are loyal to the coop	48	-	60	-	-	-
local people support our coop	40	50	33	35		46
have a range of products / services	36	40	33	-	40	-
workers are committed to the coop	36	50	-	-	-	-
have skilled workers	36	-	40	35	30	-
products / services are high quality	-	-		48	40	-
member service	-	40	-	-	-	-
operating costs are relatively low	_	40	-	_	-	33
the business skills of the manager	-	40	-	_	30	33

Table 42 Five Most Important Factors Contributing to Cooperative Success

5.6 Cooperatives' Use of Networks and Information

A total of 91% of all cooperatives belong to a network of some sort, with slightly more of those in lagging communities (94%) than those in leading communities (87%) belong to a network. All cooperatives report that the networks are important to the success of their cooperative. Furthermore, many cooperatives are part of formal alliances or operations, primarily through cooperative association activities, for the purpose of conducting some form of business transaction or pooling of resources. The most common include: training (62%); sales (50%); client services (48%); warehousing (30%); and billing (29%). There is interest among those cooperatives not already involved in such arrangements, including: client services (71%); training (57%); and billing (55%).

Most managers (79%) report that they have regular face-to-face network opportunities with others in the same sector, while most board members (65%) report that they have regular face-to-face network opportunities with other businesses in the community. This is not surprising since board members are drawn from within the community, while managers need to work both with the community and externally in their management of the cooperative. (Table 43A) Cooperatives are also using technology for networking, especially those in lagging communities. In fact, almost half of the managers (42%) report that the cooperative uses the Internet for networking, and this is confirmed by the fact that 58% if board members report this to be the case. Fewer report using other forms of technology for networking purposes. The use of the Internet for

networking, as reported by managers, is highly associated with (and almost statistically significant) the lagging status of a community.

	Managers (n=25)		Board Members (n=24)			
	Total %	Leading + Lagging		Total %	Leading + Lagging	
		Phi	Signif		Phi	Signif
regular face-to-face networking with businesses in same sector in other communities	79	0.23	0.27	50	-0.2	0.36
regular face-to-face networking with other businesses in the community	63	0.13	0.52	65	-0.47	0.04
using the Internet to network with other businesses	42	-0.37	0.07	58	-0.14	0.55
using the Internet for "live chats" with other businesses on a regularly scheduled basis	21	-0.22	0.27	26	-0.27	0.24
using other communication technology to network with businesses in other communities	33	-0.24	0.24	35	-0.17	0.44

Table 43A Types Of Networking Opportunities Employed By Cooperatives

There is a great deal of interest among managers in using technology for networking purposes; three-quarters would like to use or enhance their current use of the Internet for this purpose, and one-third would like to use other forms of technology. There is significantly less interest in this matter on the part of board members. (Table 43B) However, one-quarter of managers and one-third of board members, largely from lagging communities in both cases, would like to develop regular face-to-face networking opportunities with others in the same sector. This suggests an opportunity for government or sector support to facilitate opportunities cooperatives in these communities to be more connected to others in their sector.

Interested or very interested in:	Managers (n=various)			Board Members (n=various)		
	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %	Total %	Lead %	Lagg %
regular face-to-face networking with businesses in same sector in other communities	24	11	38	32	11	50
regular face-to-face networking with other businesses in the community	33	11	56	29	13	50
using the Internet to network with other businesses	78	77	100	16	0	30
using the Internet for "live chats" with other businesses on a regularly scheduled basis	16	11	20	16	11	20
using other communication technology to network with businesses in other communities	33	30	36	16	13	18

Table 43B Interest in Types Of Networking Opportunities within Cooperatives

Board members provide an important leadership role in the overall development of the cooperative. They are responsible for long term planning and development, and for making strategic decisions. One element that board members draw upon to help make informed decisions is their personal networks and connections. Just over half (56%) of the board members identified that the connections of their board members are mostly or somewhat local; about one-quarter suggested that they were mostly or somewhat external to the community. This suggests that there is a healthy overall balance of local and external networks. However, among those from cooperatives in leading communities, 90% identified that their board members' connections are mostly local, whereas among those from lagging communities, 43% identified that they were mostly external in nature. This suggests that in lagging communities where they may be a smaller business base, members draw on their connections elsewhere.

In looking at the range of information sources cooperatives use for making important decisions, for advice and guidance, for general business information, and for other types of information, a rank ordering of the type five sources for each shows some clear patterns. The more important the decision or information required, the greater the likelihood of going to a source from within, while the net is cast more widely for more general information. (Table 44) With respect to providing guidance on important decisions, senior management and employees are the most important. Lawyers and accountants are used by just over one-quarter of the cooperatives. Only 4 (12%) make use of their cooperative association for information on important decisions.

Only one-third of cooperatives use the cooperative sector to obtain advice and guidance. Again, the most important source is senior management. Customers are not one of the top five, but consultation with colleagues through networks is. The most important sources of information for

general business issues are much the same, except that the cooperative sector replaces lawyers in the top five. When we look at the most importance sources of general information, customers are the most important (through both formal surveys and informal discussions). Competitors, sector publications, the Internet, financial institutions, and government publications are also important.

In looking at important differences between leading and lagging communities, cooperatives in lagging communities are much more likely to involve employees in important decisions, and the measure of association here is statistically significant. There are no important differences among leading and lagging communities in their sources of advice and guidance, to discuss general business issues, or to collect general information.

	To make important decisions	To obtain advice and guidance	To discuss general business issues	To collect information
management	1	1	1	
employees	2	4	1	
lawyer	3	2		
accountant	4	3	3	
customers	5			1
colleagues		5	4	
coop sector			5	
competitors				2
sector publication				3
Internet				4
financial institution				4
government publication				4

Table 44 Rank Order of Most Important Sources of Information for Managing the Cooperative

Cooperatives generally participate in local trade shows; about half, and slightly more in leading that lagging communities, do so. (Table 45) Very few participate in regional or provincial trade shows, and none participate nationally. These patterns are not surprising given the high degree of local focus that cooperatives play, and the high percentage of financial and service cooperatives which make up this sample.

	Total (%)	Leading (%)	Lagging (%)
Local (n=31)	49	53	44
Regional (n=32)	10	7	12
Provincial (n=32)	13	7	18

Table 45 Cooperatives' Participation in Trade Shows

6.0 Differences Between Small Business and Cooperative Sectors

In examining differences between the small business and cooperative sectors, the indicators of difference we use include: more than 20% difference in responses to specific issues; or a major reordering of any rank order scores. For the most part there are many similarities between these two groups, particularly when we consider the relatively small sample sizes involved. If there were larger samples for each group, we might have more concrete evidence of similarities and differences.

In comparing the sales and employment growth patterns for cooperatives and small businesses, we note that more of the cooperatives have experienced growth in each of sales, full time employment, and part time employment, in the past three years.

Volunteer board members contribute almost twice as many hours per month to their volunteer work in the community, compared to that of small business persons. Although we did not inquire about the age of board members, we suspect that this might be explained in part by some board members having reached the age of retirement from the workforce, and they therefore have more time available to contribute.

Small businesses are much more likely to contribute to community fundraising events than are cooperatives. Although we did not collect information on cash flow and profit, this in part might be explained by small businesses using some of their profits to give to fundraising, whereas cooperatives operate in part on a breakeven or non-profit basis, and would have dividends to pay to members if they have any profits at all.

Managers of cooperatives have a general impression that the community has the resources to offer financial help for people who are starting up a new business. Small business respondents do not share this view.

There are few differences in the percent of cooperatives and small businesses which feel that they are leaders in their sector on a variety of business issues. However, many more of the cooperatives felt that they were leaders in the area of changing their pricing and in their purchasing practices. This is directly connected to several other elements, Cooperatives in general belong to cooperative associations or sector groups, and these generally have group

buying practices, Furthermore, one reason for cooperatives starting up is to counteract market inefficiencies, one being high prices in a monopoly or isolated community setting. Thus, cooperatives tend to introduce competitive pricing.

On a contrasting note, however, cooperatives were much less likely to feel that they, as a collective enterprise, exhibit entrepreneurial characteristics. In particular, many more of the small business respondents felt that they were innovative, that they liked to take on challenges, and that they take calculated risks.

Looking at investment patterns, cooperatives were much more likely than small businesses to have purchased new computer equipment in the past three years. Given that small businesses in the sample are relatively small, and that cooperatives tend to make decisions on a collective basis, we can conclude that this difference might be explained by noting that cooperatives are "catching up" to the small business sector in adopting new computer equipment. In fact, we could even suggest that cooperatives have leap-frogged the small business sector in using computers and information technology. Seven of the cooperatives and only two of the small businesses have e-commerce capacity (for completing transactions on-line, Tables 15 and 35), and 42% of cooperative managers compared with 26% of small businesses use the Internet for networking purposes (Tables 23A and 43A).

There are also some differences in the reasons for making investments (of all types) in the business. Small businesses were much more likely to invest for the purpose of changing production or service patterns, while cooperatives were much more likely to invest for the purposes of improving customer service and modernizing their equipment and buildings. The heavy emphasis of developing and cultivating loyalty among their members is likely a driving factor here for cooperatives.

While there were few important differences related to the relative importance each places on the adoption of new technologies for various aspects of business activity, cooperatives were much more likely to place greater emphasis on this for the purposes of retaining existing markets and customers (again, this is related to the inherent interest in developing and cultivating customer and member loyalty) and for training. On this last point, cooperatives are challenged to find ways to retain existing employees and managers rather than see them move into the private sector. Cooperatives seem to be responding by making innovative use of technology for training purposes.

In looking at particularly disadvantages created by their location in a rural community, small businesses were much more likely to cite labour force problems as a disadvantage. Here, small businesses may be looking for specialized skills for their business, and they have difficulty finding people with those skills.

There is also an important difference between the two related to business loans. Many more (almost one-third) of small businesses which had applied for a loan were turned down at some point, and almost all of these were in lagging communities. This is reinforced by earlier

observations among the small business respondents that access to financing within the community is troublesome.

In terms of looking to various levels of government to do something to enhance the business environment, small businesses are much more likely to suggest that local government and the federal government can and should be doing something to improve their situation. Suggestions for action primarily relate to the need for lower taxation at both levels.

Many more of the cooperatives identified that increasing competition is a current challenge for their business operation.

With respect to labour force issues, many more in the small business sector are experiencing problems with high levels of payroll taxation. This eats into profit margins, and may also partially explain why fewer small businesses compared to cooperatives identified that they have had increases in employment levels in the past three years.

There are few differences between the two sectors when we examine their explanations for their business success. However, many more of the small businesses noted that their high quality of products and services, and their good reputation, were critical factors in explaining their success.

There are some differences in the relative use of networks for business purposes. Many more of the cooperatives belong to formal networks and alliances, and many more of the cooperatives participate in regular face-to-face networking sessions within their communities and within their sectors. These differences are not surprising given the more formal arrangements with the cooperative movement of belonging to a larger network or association.

The last difference identified is that cooperatives are more likely to participate in local trade shows than are small businesses.

7.0 Comparison of Leading and Lagging Status of Communities

7.1 For the Business Sector

Looking at those variables which are statistically significant at or near the 0.05 level (most significant), or where these is at least a 20% difference in the response, we identify that:

- more of the small businesses in leading communities experienced growth in sales in the last three years;
- small businesses in lagging communities are more likely to sponsor organizations and events;
- respondents in leading communities are more likely to state that they like to be their own boss;

- making capital investments for the purpose of improving the quality of products and services, opening up new markets or customer bases, and increasing the volume of products and services, are associated with businesses in lagging communities;
- small businesses in lagging communities place a greater emphasis on adopting new technologies for many purposes, but particularly for developing new suppliers and for using new equipment;
- more of the businesses in leading communities identify that most businesses in their communities are content at their present level of operations, suggesting that more of the businesses in lagging communities might be interested in growth and expansion;
- for businesses in lagging communities there is more of a problem creating awareness that a new business is about to open;
- many more of those in lagging communities identify that increasing competition is a current business challenge;
- respondents located in leading communities are much more positive about the current business climate than those in lagging communities;
- there is much more interest among those in lagging communities in developing face-to-face networking opportunities both within their communities and within their sectors;
- those in lagging communities are much more likely to use the government and the Internet as a source of information for advice and guidance on business issues, and to use local agencies as a source for general business information.

7.2 For the Cooperative Sector

Looking at those variables which are statistically significant at or near the 0.05 level (most significant), or where these is at least a 20% difference in the response, we identify that:

- managers and board members are more likely to be involved in community groups as members or leaders in lagging communities;
- cooperatives in lagging communities were more likely to sponsor organizations and events;
- managers in leading communities are more likely to agree that business people get involved in community organizations;
- board members in lagging communities are more likely to agree that business people get involved as leaders in community organizations;
- local politicians were more likely to be involved in the startup of cooperatives in leading communities;
- participating in cooperatives in lagging communities is motivated much more by people's general unhappiness with the private sector and their desire to participate in management;
- cooperatives in lagging communities are more likely to see themselves as leaders in improving customer relations, developing new markets, adopting new purchasing practices, and human resources;
- more of the cooperatives in lagging communities agree that they like to take on challenges and that they take calculated risks;

- cooperatives in lagging communities place a greater emphasis on adopting new technologies for many purposes, but particularly for developing new suppliers and developing new markets;
- many more of the cooperatives in lagging communities cite a lack of money for research and development during the startup phase; poor quality products and services and difficulties building awareness that the cooperative is open, during the first year of operations; and a declining customer base at the present time, as particular challenges;
- access to training programs and the high level of payroll taxes are more pressing current labour force issues for cooperatives in leading communities, while the expense of the EI system and a poor work ethic are more pressing problems for those in lagging communities;
- employees in cooperatives located in leading communities receive approximately twice as many days of training, on average, than those in lagging communities;
- many more of the managers in lagging communities use the Internet for networking purposes;
- there is much more interest among managers in lagging communities in developing face-toface networking opportunities both within their communities and within their sectors, and in using their Internet for networking;
- board members networks are much more local among those serving cooperatives in leading communities, but they are much more external among those serving cooperatives in leading communities;
- those in lagging communities are much more likely to use employees as an important source of information when making important business decisions.

7.3 Comparing the Business and Cooperative Sectors in Leading and Lagging Communities

Within leading communities, the small business sector is much more likely than the cooperative sector to:

- agree that for people starting a new business there is difficulty getting financing from sources other than banks for their venture;
- agree that they are creative, innovative, like challenges, and take calculated risks;
- place a greater emphasis on adopting new technologies to develop new products and services and to develop new markets;
- state that the high quality of their products and services and their good reputation are leading factors explaining their business success.

Within leading communities, the cooperative sector is much more likely than the small business sector to:

- have experienced increases in full time employment in the past three years;
- contribute to fundraising activities;
- give prizes for events and to award scholarships to students;
- be impacted by provincial and federal government regulations as they relate to their ability to expand their business operations;

• to participate in local trade shows.

Within lagging communities, the small business sector is much more likely than the cooperative sector to:

- agree that they are innovative and like to take on challenges;
- be impacted by federal government regulations as they relate to their ability to expand their business operations;
- state that the high quality of their products and services and their good reputation are leading factors explaining their business success;
- participate in regional trade shows.

Within lagging communities, the cooperative sector is much more likely than the small business sector to:

- have experienced growth in sales and part time employment;
- have board members involved in community organizations as leaders;
- contribute to fundraising activities;
- see themselves as leaders in adopting new technologies, human resources management, changing their pricing, and adopting new purchasing practices;
- place a greater emphasis on adopting new technologies to retain existing markets, to develop new markets, and to develop new suppliers.

8.0 Community Economic Development: Policy and Research Issues

What conclusions can we draw about the relationship between small businesses and cooperatives, and community economic development? On the positive side, we note that business people and those in the cooperative sector contribute skills and time as volunteer leaders and members in community organizations. Businesses and cooperatives contribute in financial and non-financial ways to the overall well-being of the community. In particular their involvement in non-business activities is perceived to be important and valued. These are indicators that business and cooperative involvement in community economic development activity is likely already happening and is welcomed. Some businesses see themselves as innovators and as creative people, who like challenges. Cooperatives see themselves as leaders in their sectors in a number of business practices, and they have highly evolved networks and alliances. These are transferable skills and experiences to any community economic development process. Because businesses see that a rural lifestyle and environment, and access to a good pool of labour, are positive reasons for locating in a rural community, they would have a vested interest in support and participating in community economic development activity which would enhance and protect these features of the community.

On the limiting side of small business and cooperative sector involvement in community economic development, there are important challenges related to access to capital and to support for new business starts. Business people in particular have identified these as areas where there is less community support, and it may discourage or limit business participation in community economic development activities leading to community-owned business development. Furthermore, relatively few of the business people perceive that their communities are entrepreneurial in nature. If this is the case, one of the immediate challenges will be to build an entrepreneurial culture and spirit in the community, before serious community economic development planning and implementation can occur. Cooperatives and small businesses have identified that the cost of labour in the form of high payroll taxes and employment insurance premiums is a problem. This may limit financial capacity to contribute to the startup of community owned businesses, or may make the cost of startup for community-owned businesses more difficult. Finally, few business people see the business climate in their community as being positive. This also suggests that there may be some challenges in identifying and acting on new business opportunities within a community economic development context.

The broad conclusion we draw from our findings is that there are significant limitations to business growth and expansion as a revitalization strategy in rural communities. Entrepreneurs and cooperatives face significant challenges which must be addressed before they can make important contributions to local CED processes, and before they can be a driving force of rural revitalization. One might argue that few businesses or cooperatives in our sample can be considered as entrepreneurial at all. They are not risk takers by their own admission, and risk aversion is a major blockage to rural growth.

What are the policy and research issues emerging from the findings of this study? Several items are worth noting. In terms of policy issues:

- There are still some gaps in both sectors in their access to information about the adoption of new technologies for a variety of business purposes. About one-quarter of the respondents from both sectors identified this as an issue. Targeted initiatives on this front to assist both sectors understand the value of and the process of implementing new technologies would be helpful.
- The federal government, through its connecting Canadians agenda, has made a concerted effort to foster more widespread use of e-commerce as a means to enhance competitiveness in the business sector. However, given that very few of the respondents are providing e-commerce opportunities for the customers, and very few have plans to do so in the near future, there is room for a review of the effectiveness of current policies and programs related to this effort. Furthermore, there is significant interest from both sectors in developing greater use of the Internet for networking purposes. This is an opportunity for the government to explore how it might support such networking.
- Changes in the regulatory environment, as it affects both sectors in their business development, is warranted. At all three levels there was a universal call for lower taxation of

all types, particularly as it relates to payroll taxes and the employment insurance system at the federal level, and property taxes at the local level. More investigation might be needed to explore the exact nature of these taxes and their direct or indirect impact on businesses in rural communities. Furthermore, the cooperative sector identified that changes at the provincial level in the form of updating and even reinventing the Cooperatives Act, is needed.

• For both sectors, employees and accountants figured prominently as primary sources of information from important business decisions, for advice and guidance, and for general business information. Perhaps a targeted effort by government and sector organizations to provide these groups in particular with critical information about business and market issues would be helpful in strengthening their role as information sources.

Additional research questions issues which emerge from our findings include:

- There is a need to understand more about the local dynamics of financial and moral support for people attempting to start new businesses. The business sector, and to a lesser extent, those in the cooperative sector, identified that this is an issue. More research about personal and community values may help to understand the "moral" issues; more research about awareness of and access to alternative forms of financing, including emerging forms of micro-credit, community loan funds, and community foundations, and existing vehicles within banks, credit unions, community business development centres, the Business Development Bank of Canada, and the various federal and provincial development agencies, would be helpful. Furthermore, existing research related to this issue should be reviewed with an eye to potential policy and program reforms that might improve the situation for rural business startups.
- There is an opportunity to explore more thoroughly the nature of collective and community entrepreneurship. Few of the respondents from our samples felt that their communities could be considered "entrepreneurial" in nature. It also appears that business people born locally identify quality of life reasons moreso than economic ones to explain why they are located where they are, while those from away are more likely to identify economic reasons. What are the successful models for building an entrepreneurial culture? Further research on the entrepreneurship characteristics of the locally born business people born in other concentrated in lagging communities) compared to business people born in other communities (more concentrated in leading communities) might help to uncover critical points related to relative business success and entrepreneurship. Research on the linkages between the education system (specifically its curriculum) and entrepreneurship development should be reviewed with a view to exploring how best practices or success can be modelled elsewhere.
- For both sectors there is a greater emphasis on technology use for product / service development and for market development, and less emphasis related to human resources, employee training, and working with suppliers. More research on the potential workplace

opportunities and barriers for using technology for internal and external training, and the support elements required for that, will help to understand how best to deliver this support.

- Small businesses and cooperatives have difficulty with building awareness about their businesses during startup and first year of operations. There are issues here related to adequate financial resources for generating this awareness, but there may be other issues related to the effectiveness of identifying appropriate target markets for promotion, and to the relative support in the local community. More research on this issue is required.
- Businesses generally face significant challenges to expand their sales in markets beyond the immediate community. Many of our respondents felt that businesses in their community faced problems in expanding to meet demand and opportunity, and many felt that businesses generally lack of skill and knowledge for expansion. More research is required to understand the specific barriers (e.g. geographic isolation, lack of money for expansion, lack of information on markets, labour force issues, cash flow issues, or issues related to their production or service buildings and equipment).
- While it is clear that "amenity" related factors are the most frequently cited, it is less clear what the specific amenities are that lead people to choose a rural business location, or the extent to which the location is freely chosen or chosen by default due to a lack of choice or mobility. Further research on these issues is needed, particularly from a CED and a business growth perspective.
- It is unclear why so many more of the businesses in lagging communities identified a problem with building awareness that their businesses was to open, during their startup phase. Is the problem specific within their community, within the market they target, or germaine to particular sectors? We could speculate that insufficient business marketing skills combined with a lack of capital for marketing and advertising could be part of the problem. But perhaps there is something unique in a lagging community context that needs to be uncovered.
- We know that small business people and those in cooperative business leadership positions belong to community groups as members and leaders. However, from a research perspective, there is an opportunity to learn more about the transfer of skills and knowledge they bring with them from their business experiences into community activities. What are the specific skills and knowledge they employ in their broader community activities? To what extent do they "transfer" these to others, in a capacity building context?
- Many of the small businesses use personal finances for their operations, and only half use their business profits for operations financing. It is unclear how much of this pattern is due to the pluriactivity of rural businesses, and how much of it is part of a survival strategy. More research is required in this area.

9.0 Bibliography

Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency (ACOA). 1996. The State of Small Business and Entrepreneurship in Atlantic Canada - 1996. Moncton, ACOA.

Baker, Harold R. 1990. *Inter-Community Co-operation in the Micro-Region: A Saskatchewan Perspective on Rural Development*. Journal of Sociological Practice. 8: 145-156.

Baker, Harold, and Lou Hammond Ketilson. 1994. *Community Economic Development in Saskatchewan*. In **Community Economic Development in Canada.** Vol. 2. Edited by David J. A. Douglas. Toronto: Mcgraw-Hill Ryerson.

Belotti, C. 1999. *La modernisation technologique des petites entreprises en zone rurale*. **Revue Internationale P.M.E**. 12 (1-2): 127-150.

Borich, Timothy O. 1994. *Collaboration: A Different Strategy for Rural Economic Development*. **Economic Development Review**. 12 (1): 18-21.

Centre for the Study of Co-operatives. 1997. *A Conversation About Community Development: Community Development Workshop*. Saskatoon, SK: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan.

Dykeman, Floyd. 1992. *Developing an Understanding of Entrepreneurial and Sustainable Rural Communities*, in Floyd Dykeman (ed.) **Entrepreneurial and Sustainable Rural Communities**. Sackville: Rural and Small Town Programme, Mount Allison University.

Dykeman, Floyd. 1987. Community Economic Development: A Prescription for a Healthy Community. Sackville: Rural and Small Town Programme, Mount Allison University.

Fairbairn, Brett. 1997. *Principles of Organizational Restructuring in Rural Organizations: Cooperatives*. In **Changing Rural Institutions: A Canadian Perspective**. Edited by Richard C. Rounds. Brandon, MB: Canadian Rural Restructuring Foundation.

Fairbairn, Brett. 1998. *A Preliminary History of Rural Development Policy and Programmes in Canada, 1945-1995*. Unpublished paper prepared for the Canadian Rural Restructuring Foundation.

Fairbairn, Brett, et al. 1995. **Co-operatives and Community Development: Economics in Social Perspective**. Saskatoon, SK: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan.

Fairbairn, Brett, et al. 2000. **Co-operative Development and the State: Case Studies and Analysis**. 2 vol. Saskatoon, SK: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, Co-operative Secretariat. Flora, Jan L., et al. 1997. *Entrepreneurial Social Infrastructure and Locally initiated Economic Development in Nonmetropolitan United States*. **The Sociological Quarterly**. 38 (4): 623-645.

Fourcade, C. and M. Marchesnay. 1997. Gestion de la PME/PMI. Paris: Nathan.

Hammond Ketilson, Lou, et al. 1998. The Social and Economic Importance of the Cooperative Sector in Saskatchewan: Research Report Prepared for Saskatchewan Department of Economic and Co-operative Development. Saskatoon, SK: Centre for the Study of Co-operatives, University of Saskatchewan.

Hustedde, R. J. 1991. *Developing Leadership to Address Rural Problems*. In **Rural Community Economic Development**. Edited by N. Walzer. New York: Praeger.

Illouz-Winiki, C. et D. Paillard. 1998. *New Business in Rural Areas*. **The OECD Observer**. February/March (210): 12-16.

Isreal, D., and L. J. Beaulieu. 1990. *Community Leadership*. In American Rural Communities. Edited by A. E. Luloff and Louis E. Swanson. Boulder: Westview Press.

Joyal, André. 2000. **Rural SMEs: a review of the literature**. Montreal, QC: a draft report of the New Rural Economy Project of the Canadian Rural Revitalization Foundation.

Julien, P. A. 1997. Les PME: bilan et perspectives. 2nd edition of Economica. Cap Rouge: Paris et Presses Interuniversitaires.

Laidlaw, A. F. 1971. *Co-operatives as Agents of Community Economic Development*. In Citizen Participation: Canada: A Book of Readings. Edited by James A. Draper. Toronto: New Press.

Lulec, M. Ambiance-Bois. 1998. L'aventure d'un collectif autogéré. France: Editions d'Utovie.

MacLeod, Greg. 1994. *Atlantic Canadian Roots*. In **Community Economic Development in Canada**. Vol. 2. Edited by David J. A. Douglas. Toronto: Mcgraw-Hill Ryerson.

MacPherson, Ian. 1979. Each for All: A History of the Co-operative Movement in English Canada, 1900-1945. Toronto: Macmillan Co.

Morehouse, Ward, editor. 1989. Building Sustainable Communities: Tools and Concepts for Self-Reliant Economic Change. New York: Bootstrap Press.

Nothdurft, W. 1992. Les stratégies et les conditions nécessaires à la promotion de *l'entrepreneuriat en milieu rural*. **Entreprises et Emplois dans le monde Rural**. Paris: OECD.

The Role of Small Business and Cooperatives in CED

Niittykangas, H. 1996. *Enterprise Development in Different Rural Areas of Finland*. **Entrepreneurship and Regional Development**. 8: 245-261.

Phifer, Bryan, M. E. Frederick List and Boyd Faulkner. 1989. *An Overview of Community Development in America*. In **Community Development in Perspective**. Edited by Christenson, James A. and Jerry W. Robinson, Jr., Ames: Iowa State University Press.

Rallet, A., and A. Torre. 1998. *On Geography and Technology: Proximity Relations in Localised Innovation Networks*. In **Clusters in Regional Specialisation**. Edited by M. Steiner. Pion Pu.

Reimer, Bill. 2000. Leading and Lagging CSDs, Component 2: Statistical Summary. Montreal, QC: a draft report of the New Rural Economy Project of the Canadian Rural Revitalization Foundation.

Reimer, Bill. 1997a. A Sampling Frame for Non-Metropolitan Communities in Canada. Canadian Rural Restructuring Foundation. http://nre.concordia.ca

Reimer, Bill. 1997b. **The NRE Rural Sample Site Database - Logic and Approach**. Canadian Rural Restructuring Foundation. http://nre.concordia.ca.

Shepstone, Carol. 2000. **Cooperatives in Rural Development: A Literature Review**. Montreal, QC: A draft report of the New Rural Economy Project of the Canadian Rural Revitalization Foundation.

Stevenson, Lois. 1997. Implementation of an Entrepreneurship Development Strategy in Canada. Moncton: AOCA and OECD.

Wehrell, Roger. 1994. **The State of Home Based Business in Atlantic Canada**. Sackville: Rural and Small Town Programme, Mount Allison University.

Wickham, John, Richard Fuchs and Janet Miller-Pitt. N.d. Where Credit is Due: A Case Study of the Eagle River Credit Union. Economic Council of Canada Local Development Series Local Development Paper No. 4. Economic Council of Canada.